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Exhibit 10.1

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSIONAMENDMENT NO. 2 TO

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

This amendment number 2 (this “Amendment”), dated as of May 6, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) and entered into by and
among Biofrontera Inc. (“BFRI”), Hermann Luebbert, John J. Borer, Beth J. Hoffman, Kevin D. Weber (collectively, the “BFRI
Parties”) and Biofrontera AG (each, a “Party” and collectively, the “Parties”), hereby amends that certain Settlement Agreement
entered into between the Parties as of April 11, 2023 (the “Agreement”) pursuant to the following terms and conditions.

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
☒1. QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934 Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the respective meanings assigned to them in the
Agreement.

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2023
OR

☐2. TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 Amendments. As of the Effective Date, the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-40943

Biofrontera Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (a) 47-3765675Section III.C.3. Section III.C.3 as set forth in the Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety and
replaced only with “[Intentionally Omitted]”.

3. ( Date of Effectiveness. This Amendment, including all of the changes set forth in Section ‎2 hereof, shall become effective
as of the Effective Date. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Agreement to “this Agreement,” “the
Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein,” or words of like import, and each reference to the Agreement in any other
agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Agreement, will mean
and be a reference to the Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

4. Representations and Warranties. Each of the Parties hereby represents and warrants that it has entered into this
Amendment voluntarily and of its own volition. Each Party acknowledges that no other Party, nor any agent or attorney of
any other Party, has made any promise, representation, or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, not expressly contained
in this Amendment concerning the subject matter hereof, or any other matter whatsoever, to induce said Party to execute or
authorize the execution of this Amendment. Each Party acknowledges that it has not executed or authorized the execution of
this Amendment in reliance upon any promise, representation, or warranty not expressly contained herein.
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5. Jurisdiction. This Amendment, and any dispute arising out of or relating in any
way to this Amendment, shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware,
without regard to conflicts of law principles. Any action relating to this
Amendment shall be brought, heard, and determined exclusively in the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware (the “Court”) (provided that, in the event that
subject matter jurisdiction is unavailable in the Court, then all such claims shall be
brought, heard and determined exclusively in any other state or federal court sitting
in Delaware). Subject to the preceding sentence, each Party (i) irrevocably submits
to the sole and exclusive personal jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in
Delaware, as well as to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of all courts to which an
appeal may be taken from such courts, in any such action arising out of or relating
to this Agreement (but no other action); (ii) agrees that it shall not attempt to deny
or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from such
court; (iii) consents to service of process by registered mail on such Party and/or
such Party’s attorney in the Action; (iv) waives any objection to venue in such
court and any claim that the Court (or, in the event that subject matter jurisdiction
of

incorporation is unavailable in the Court, any other state or organization)

(IRS
Employer

Identification
No.)

120
Presidential
Way, Suite

330, Woburn,
Massachusetts 01801

(Address of
principal
executive
offices)

(Zip
Code)federal

court sitting in
Delaware) is

an
inconvenient

forum; and (v)
expressly

waives, and
agrees not to
plead or to
make any

claim that any
such action is

subject (in
whole or in

part) to a jury
trial.

(781)245-1325
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable
(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common stock, par value $0.001 per share BFRI The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
Preferred Stock Purchase Rights The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Warrants to purchase common stock BFRIW The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller
reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller
reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

Emerging growth company ☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☒
As of November 8, 2023 there were 1,517,628 shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share.
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(a) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective
successors and permitted assigns.

(b) This Amendment may be executed in one or more original, facsimile, or PDF counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

(c) This Amendment and the Agreement, together, constitute the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with
respect to its subject matter, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements,
representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.
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7. Remainder of Agreement. Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the
Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties in all respects.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to
or waiver of any other provision of the Agreement (or of any other agreement or document relating to the subject matter
hereof), or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of any Party that would require the waiver or
consent of another Party.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the Effective Date.
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Biofrontera Inc.
Signature:
/s/ Hermann Luebbert
Name:  Hermann Luebbert
Title: Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Hermann Luebbert
Hermann Luebbert
/s/ John J. Borer
John J. Borer
/s/ Beth J. Hoffman
Beth J. Hoffman
/s/ Kevin D. Weber
Kevin D. Weber
Biofrontera AG
Signature:
/s/ Pilar de la Huerta Martinez
Name: Pilar de la Huerta Martinez
Title: Chief Financial Officer

3

Item 1. Financial StatementsExhibit 10.2
BIOFRONTERA INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made effective as of May 10, 2024 by and between
Biofrontera, Inc, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) having its registered office at 120 Presidential Way, Suite 330, Woburn,
MA 01801 and Hermann Luebbert (the “Executive”) of Hoehenstrasse 59, 51381 Leverkusen, Germany.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
WHEREAS, the Company entered into a certain Employment Agreement with Executive, effective December 15, 2021 (the
“Employment Agreement”), securing the employment services of the Executive for an indefinite period of time and upon the
particular terms and conditions therein; and
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive wish to i) amend certain terms of said Employment Agreement, and ii) restate the
Employment Agreement in its entirety.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS
1. EMPLOYMENT AND TERM
It is agreed that Executive will devote 100% of his working capacity to the performance of his duties hereunder. This Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect for an indefinite period of time and is subject to termination pursuant to Section 9 of the
Agreement.
2. DUTIES
During the term of the Agreement, whether initial or extended, the Executive shall render to the Company services as Executive
Chairman and shall perform such duties as may be designated by and subject to the supervision of the Company’s Board of
Directors. Executive shall serve in such additional roles appropriate to his responsibilities and skills as shall be designated by the
Board of Directors.
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During such period, the Executive shall devote his full attention, time and energies as necessary to the business affairs of the
Company (subject to the terms of Section 1 above and Section 5 below) and will use his reasonable business efforts to promote the
interests and reputation of the Company. He may pursue non-competitive employment activities that do not interfere with the
complete performance of his obligations hereunder only after prior written agreement by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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3. LOCATION OF EMPLOYMENT
Executive’s principal place of employment shall be at the Company’s headquarters, which is currently located in Woburn, MA.
However, Executive will be permitted to work entirely remotely from his home or another convenient office location, as needed and
as determined by Executive. Nonetheless, Executive shall also be required to conduct reasonable business travel as directed by the
Board of Directors and consistent with the Executive’s duties and responsibilities.
4. COMPENSATION
For the services to be rendered by the Executive under the Agreement, the Company shall pay him a salary while he is rendering
such services and performing his duties hereunder, and the Executive shall accept such salary as full payment for such service.
Executive’s annual base salary shall be $489,600.00, reduced by (i) Federal income tax withholding, (ii) FICA; and (iii) such other
reductions as may be agreed upon by the parties or required by law, and shall be paid in bi-weekly installments and in accordance
with the Company’s customary payroll procedure. Executive is eligible to participate in the Company’s annual merit review
process, by which the Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, increase Executive’s base salary without the need to formally
amend this Agreement.
For each fiscal year in effect during the active life of this Agreement, the Executive shall be eligible to receive a cash bonus of up to
65% of his base salary (the “Target Bonus”) upon the attainment of performance goals set in advance by the Board of Directors.
All such bonuses shall be paid after the completion of the Company’s financial statements for the applicable fiscal year as and
when bonuses are paid to members of senior management generally. The actual amount of Executive’s bonus shall depend upon the
level of achievement of set targets, however no bonus shall be paid if the level of target achievement is below 70%.
Upon the Executive’s termination of employment, regardless of the reason for such termination and regardless of the party by whom
such termination is initiated, the Executive shall be entitled to immediate payment of all accrued but unpaid base salary and
expenses owed. In thousands, addition, upon the Executive’s termination of employment by the Company other than termination for
“Cause” under Section 9(d) of the Agreement, the Executive shall be entitled to a severance payment equal to one twelfth the
Executive’s then-current annual base salary for each full year the Executive has been employed by the Company (including
Biofrontera AG, as a past affiliate of the Company); provided, however, that such payment shall not exceed two full years of
Executive’s then-current base salary.
Further, the Executive shall participate in Company’s stock option plan. The number of options rewarded to him shall be at the
discretion of the Board of Directors.
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5. VACATION; FRINGE BENEFITS; REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES
The Executive shall be entitled to paid time off in accordance with the Company’s standard policy. He shall not be entitled to
receive monetary or other valuable consideration for vacation time to which he is entitled but does not take, unless so ordered by
the Board of Directors. Timing of vacations shall be reasonably exercised by the Executive.
During his period of employment hereunder, the Executive shall further be entitled to (a)leave by reason of physical or mental
disability or incapacity, (b) participation in medical and life insurance, pension, disability and other fringe benefit plans as the
Company may make generally available to all of its executive employees and other employees from time to time; subject, however,
to such budgetary constraints or other limitations as may be imposed by the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time;
and (c) reimbursement for all normal and reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by his in the performance of his obligations
hereunder, subject to such reasonable substantiation requirements as may be imposed by the Company to all employees of the
Company, unless otherwise agreed to by the Board of Directors.
6. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND PROPRIETARY INTERESTS
Executive acknowledges that he has received and will continue to receive Company’s Confidential Information. Executive
recognizes that all such Confidential Information is and shall remain the sole property of the Company, free of any rights of
Executive, and acknowledges that the Company has a vested interest in assuring that all such Confidential Information remains
secret and confidential. Therefore, Executive agrees that during or after the expiration of his term of employment with the
Company, the Executive shall not communicate or divulge to, or use for the benefit of, any individual, association, partnership,
trust, corporation or other entity except par value and share amounts) the Company, any Confidential Information received by the
Executive by virtue of his employment, without first being in receipt of the Company’s written consent to do so.

   

September 30,

2023    

December 31,

2022  
    (Unaudited)        
ASSETS                
Current assets:                
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,422     $ 17,208  
Investment, related party     3,341       10,548  
Accounts receivable, net     3,793       3,748  
Other receivables, related party     2,713       3,658  
Inventories, net     16,068       7,168  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     274       810  
                 
Total current assets     29,611       43,140  
                 
Other receivables long term, related party     -       2,813  
Property and equipment, net     154       204  
Operating lease right-of-use assets     1,129       1,375  
Intangible asset, net     2,718       3,032  
Other assets     492       320  
                 
Total assets   $ 34,104     $ 50,884  

                 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                
Current liabilities:                
Accounts payable     1,634       1,278  
Accounts payable, related parties     6,988       1,312  
Acquisition contract liabilities, net     7,211       6,942  
Operating lease liabilities     555       498  
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Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     11,039       10,864  
Line of credit     1,697       -  
                 
Total current liabilities     29,124       20,894  
                 
Long-term liabilities:                
Acquisition contract liabilities, net     2,500       2,400  
Warrant liabilities     842       2,843  
Operating lease liabilities, non-current     562       848  
Other liabilities     38       21  
                 
Total liabilities     33,066       27,006  
                 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)            
                 
Stockholders’ equity:                
Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, 20,000,000 shares authorized, zero shares
issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022     -       -  
Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized; 1,367,628
and 1,334,950 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022     1       1  
Additional paid-in capital     104,213       103,396  
Accumulated deficit     (103,176 )     (79,519 )
                 
Total stockholders’ equity     1,038       23,878  
                 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 34,104     $ 50,884  
For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means:
a. All information developed or used by the Company or its associates relating to business operations, including but not

limited to customer lists, purchase orders, supplier or distributor information, financial data, pricing information and
price lists, business plans, marketing strategies, personnel records, and all books, records, manuals, advertising
materials, catalogues, correspondences, mailing lists, production data, and purchasing materials; and

b. All proprietary information of the company (or any records related to the same), including but not limited to all trade
secrets, inventions, processes, procedures, research records, market surveys or marketing know-how, trademarks,
copyrights, patents, and patent applications.

The accompanying notes are an integral part term “Confidential Information” shall not include information that is or becomes
generally known to the public other than as a result of these condensed consolidated financial statements.a disclosure by Executive
in violation of this Agreement, or by any other employee of the Company subject to confidentiality obligations.
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BIOFRONTERA INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
7. NON-COMPETITION/NON-SOLICITATION
(In thousands, except per share amounts During the term of his employment hereunder and number for the one (1) year period
following the termination hereof for any reason other than (a) the Company’s discontinuance of sharesactivities; or (b) an
adjudication of the Company’s material breach of any of its obligations set forth in Sections 1, 2,4, and 5 inclusive, the
“Restricted Period”) the Executive shall not, without prior written consent by the Board of Directors of the Company, directly or
indirectly, engage in or become an owner of, render any service to, enter the employment of, or represent or solicit for any business
which competes with any activity of the Company conducted at any time during the Executive’s period of employment and which
is located in the United States. The parties expressly agree that the duration and geographical area of the restrictive covenant are
reasonable.
(Unaudited)

   
Three months ended

September 30,    
Nine months ended September

30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

                         
Product revenues, net   $ 8,879     $ 4,290     $ 23,423     $ 18,467  
Revenues, related party     17       32       52       63  
                                 
Total revenues, net     8,896       4,322       23,475       18,530  
                                 
Operating expenses                                
Cost of revenues, related party     4,495       2,127       11,814       9,504  
Cost of revenues, other     95       98       262       425  
Selling, general and administrative     8,619       7,765       29,874       25,050  
Selling, general and administrative, related party     74       171       193       612  
Research and development     33       -       44       -  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     200       (2,200 )     100       (4,100 )
                                 
Total operating expenses     13,516       7,961       42,287       31,491  
                                 
Loss from operations     (4,620 )     (3,639 )     (18,812 )     (12,961 )
                                 
Other income (expense)                                
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     598       3,814       2,001       17,896  
Warrant inducement expense     -       (2,629 )     -       (2,629 )
Realized/Unrealized losses in investment, related party     (2,212 )     -       (6,635 )     -  
Interest expense, net     (142 )     (89 )     (256 )     (160 )
Other income, net     35       (22 )     65       30  
                                 
Total other income (expense)     (1,721 )     1,074       (4,825 )     15,137  
                                 
Income (loss) before income taxes     (6,341 )     (2,565 )     (23,637 )     2,176  
Income tax expense     1       1       20       31  
                                 
Net income (loss)   $ (6,342 )   $ (2,566 )   $ (23,657 )   $ 2,145  
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Income (loss) per common share:                                
Basic   $ (4.64 )   $ (2.26 )   $ (17.57 )   $ 2.19  
Diluted   $ (4.64 )   $ (2.26 )   $ (17.57 )   $ 2.19  
                                 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:                                
Basic     1,366,842       1,136,291       1,346,264       978,018  
Diluted     1,366,842       1,136,291       1,346,264       980,251  
The covenant shall be construed as an agreement independent of any other provision herein; and the existence of any claim or cause
of action of the Executive against the Company regardless of how arising, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the
Company or its terms. If any portion of the covenant is held by a court to be unenforceable with respect either to its duration or
geographical area, for whatever reason, it shall be considered divisible both as to time and geographical area, resulting in an
intended requirement that the longest lesser period of time or largest lesser geographical area found by such court to be a
reasonable restriction shall remain an effective restrictive covenant, specifically enforceable against the Executive.
The accompanying notes are
Notwithstanding any statement contained in this Section to the contrary, legal or beneficial ownership by the Executive of a less
than five percent (5%) interest in a competitive corporation the stock of which is publicly traded on a stock exchange or by means
of an integral part electronic dealer quotation system, shall not of these condensed consolidated financial statements.itself be
deemed to constitute a breach by the Executive of the terms hereof.
Additionally, during the Executive’s employment with the Company and thereafter during the Restricted Period, the Executive shall
not, and shall not permit any third party subject to Executive’s direction or control to, directly or indirectly, (i) call upon, accept
business from, or solicit the business of any Person who is, or who had been at any time during the preceding twelve months, a
customer of the Company, (ii) otherwise divert or attempt to divert any business from the Company, (iii) interfere with the business
relationships between the Company and any of its customers, suppliers or others with whom they have business relationships or
(iv) recruit or otherwise solicit or induce, or enter into or participate in any plan or arrangement to cause, any Person who is an
employee of, or otherwise performing services for, the Company to terminate his employment or other relationship with the
Company, or hire any Person who has left the employ of or ceased providing services to the Company during the Restricted Period.
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BIOFRONTERA INC.
8. REMEDIES FOR BREACH OF EXECUTIVE OBLIGATIONS
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITYThe parties to the agreement agree that
the services of the Executive are of a personal, specific, unique and extraordinary character and cannot be readily replaced by the
Company. They further agree that in the course of performing his services, the Executive will have access to various types of
proprietary information of the Company, which, if released to others or used by the Executive other than for the benefit of the
Company, in either case without the Company’s written consent, could cause the Company to suffer irreparable injury. Therefore,
the obligation of the Executive established under Section 6 and Section 7 hereof shall be enforceable both at law and in equity, by
injunction, specific performance, damages or other remedy; and the right of the Company to obtain any such remedy shall be
cumulative and not alternative and shall not be exhausted by any one or more uses thereof. Any adjudication against Executive by
the Company shall be in accordance with the laws of Massachusetts and Massachusetts employee rights.
(In thousands, except number of shares)
9. MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION
(Unaudited)
a. Modification. The Agreement may be amended or modified only with the mutual written consent of the parties, and in

its present form consists of the entire Agreement between and amongst the parties.

b. Termination-General. The Agreement may be terminated by either party for any reason by giving six (6) months’
notice to the other party. The Agreement may be terminated by the Company upon the occurrence of any one of the
following events: (a) the death of the Executive; (b) the occurrence to Executive of a physical or mental disability which,
in the judgment (reasonably exercised) of the Board of Directors, renders him unable to perform his normal duties on
behalf of the Company for a continuous period of six (6) months (measured from the first day of the month immediately
following the occurrence of such disability); or (c) a determination by the Board of Directors that there is “Cause” (as
described in section d below) to terminate Executive’s employment.

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
c. By Death or Disability. In the event of the Executive’s death, his base compensation otherwise due for the succeeding

period of time but no less than three (3) full calendar months following his death shall be paid to his designated
beneficiary, or to his estate if no beneficiary has been designated. In the event of his disability the Executive shall be
paid his compensation for the succeeding period of time but no less than three (3) months. Thereafter for the succeeding
three (3) months shall be treated as being on an authorized unpaid leave of absence.

    Common Stock    
Additional

Paid-     Accumulated        
    Shares     Amount     In Capital     Deficit     Total  

Balance, June 30, 2023     1,343,538     $      1     $ 104,006     $ (96,834 )   $ 7,173  
Issuance of shares in reverse stock split
(for fractional shares)     24,090       0       -       -       -  
Stock based compensation     -       -       207       -       207  
Net loss     -       -       -       (6,342 )     (6,342 )
Balance, September 30, 2023     1,367,628     $ 1     $ 104,213     $ (103,176 )   $ 1,038  

                                         
Balance, December 31, 2022     1,334,950     $ 1     $ 103,396     $ (79,519 )   $ 23,878  
Issuance of shares for vested restricted
stock units     8,588       0       -       -       -  
Issuance of shares in reverse stock split
(for fractional shares)     24,090       0       -       -       -  
Stock based compensation     -       -       817       -       817  
Net loss     -       -       -       (23,657 )     (23,657 )
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Balance, September 30, 2023     1,367,628     $ 1     $ 104,213     $ (103,176 )   $ 1,038  

d. For Cause. For purposes of the Agreement, the term “Cause” shall include, but not be limited to (i) the Executive’s
willful misconduct or gross negligence; (ii) his conscious disregard of his obligations hereunder or of any other duties
reasonably assigned to him by the Board of Directors; (iii) his repeated conscious violation of any provision of the law,
the Company’s By-Laws or of its other stated policies, standards, practices, regulations or procedures; (iv) his
commission of any act involving moral turpitude; (v) a determination that he has demonstrated a dependence upon any
addictive substance, including but not limited to alcohol, controlled substances, narcotics or barbiturates; or (vi)
continued, willful and deliberate non-performance by the Executive of his duties hereunder (other than by reason of the
Executive’s physical or mental illness, incapacity or disability) which has continued for more than 30 days following
written notice of such non-performance from the Board of Directors.

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

    Common Stock    
Additional

Paid-     Accumulated        
    Shares     Amount     In Capital     Deficit     Total  

Balance, June 30, 2022     950,573     $      1     $ 91,400     $ (74,168 )   $ 17,233  
Exercise of pre-funded warrants     78,450       0       2,841               2,841  
Exercise of PIPE warrants     142,857       0       4,686       -       4,686  
Issuance of shares for vested restricted
stock units     5,668       0       -       -       -  
Stock based compensation     -       -       401       -       401  
Net loss     -       -       -       (2,566 )     (2,566 )
Balance, September 30, 2022     1,177,548     $ 1     $ 99,328     $ (76,734 )   $ 22,595  

                                         
Balance, December 31, 2021     855,237     $ 1     $ 90,216     $ (78,879 )   $ 11,338  
Issuance of common stock and warrants
under private placement, net of issuance
costs     92,500       0       116       -       116  
Exercise of pre-funded warrants     78,450       0       2,841               2,841  
Exercise of PIPE warrants     142,857       0       4,686       -       4,686  
Issuance of shares for vested restricted
stock units     8,504       0       -       -       -  
Stock based compensation     -       -       1,469       -       1,469  
Net income     -       -       -       2,145       2,145  
Balance, September 30, 2022     1,177,548     $ 1     $ 99,328     $ (76,734 )   $ 22,595  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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BIOFRONTERA INC.
e. Continued Effectiveness of Certain Obligations. No termination or expiration of the Agreement, whether

consummated by action of either party or by operation of the terms hereof, shall relieve the Executive from his
continued performance of the obligations established under Sections 6 and 7 hereof.

f. Resignation as an Officer or Director. Immediately upon any termination of Executive’s employment for any reason,
Executive shall be deemed to have resigned any position he may then hold as an officer of the Company and/or as a
fiduciary of any Company benefit plan.

10. CHANGE OF CONTROL
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWSIf Executive’s termination of employment occurs within
3 months prior to or 12 months after a “Change in Control” as defined in this Section and such termination is by the Company
without “Cause,” (i) Executive would be entitled to receive, in lieu of the severance amount described in Section 4, a severance
amount equal to the sum of his current base salary and target annual bonus for the then current fiscal year (or if higher, the target
annual bonus for the fiscal year immediately prior to the Change in Control), and (ii) Subject to the Executive’s copayment of
premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Executive may continue to participate in the Company’s group health, dental
and vision program for 12 months; provided, however, that the continuation of health benefits under this Section shall reduce and
count against the Executive’s rights under COBRA.
(In Thousands)
(Unaudited)For the purpose of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:

   
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
    2023     2022  

Cash flows from operating activities:                
                 
Net income (loss)   $ (23,657 )   $ 2,145  
                 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows used in operations:                
                 
Depreciation     65       80  
Amortization of right-of-use assets     390       -  
Amortization of acquired intangible assets     314       314  
Realized/Unrealized losses in investment, related party     6,635       -  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     100       (4,100 )
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (2,001 )     (17,896 )
Warrant inducement expense     -       2,629  
Stock-based compensation     817       1,469  
Provision for inventory obsolescence     -       100  
Provision for doubtful accounts     158       111  
Non-cash interest expense     296       268  
                 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                
Accounts receivable     (204 )     2,111  
Other receivables, related party     3,652       5,145  
Prepaid expenses and other assets     347       4,121  
Inventories     (8,900 )     (7,728 )
Accounts payable and related party payables     6,137       3,519  
Operating lease liabilities     (375 )     -  
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Accrued expenses and other liabilities     197       (216 )
                 
Cash flows used in operating activities     (16,029 )     (7,928 )
                 
Cash flows from investing activities                
Disbursement for loan receivable     -       (3,033 )
Sales of equity investment, related party     560       -  
Purchases of property and equipment     (14 )     (37 )
                 
Cash flows provided by (used) in investing activities     546       (3,070 )
                 
Cash flows from financing activities                
Proceeds from line of credit     13,546       -  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants in private placement,
net of issuance costs     -       9,391  
Proceeds from exercise of warrants     -       4,630  
Repayment of line of credit     (11,849 )     -  
                 
Cash flows provided by financing activities     1,697       14,021  
                 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (13,786 )     3,023  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the beginning of the period     17,408       24,742  
                 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the end of the period   $ 3,622     $ 27,765  

                 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information                
Interest paid   $ 31     $ 10  
Interest paid, related party   $ 22       -  
Income taxes paid, net   $ 21     $ 30  
                 
Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities                
Conversion of warrant liability to equity   $ -     $ 6,840  
Addition of right-of-use assets in exchange for operating lease liabilities   $ 147     $ -  
a. The approval by stockholders of the Company of:

1. Any consolidation or merger of the Company in which the company is not the continuing or surviving
corporation, or

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
2. A sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or

substantially all the assets of the Company to a party which is not controlled by the Company’s parent
company;

b. Either:

1. The receipt by the Company of a report on schedule 13D, or an amendment to such a report, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “1934 Act”) disclosing that any person, group, corporation or other entity (a “Person”) is the
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the outstanding stock of the Company, or
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2. The actual knowledge by the Company of facts, on the basis of which any person is required to file such a
report on schedule 13D, or an amendment to such a report, with the SEC (or would be required to file such a
report or amendment upon the lapse of the applicable period of time specified in Section 13(d) of the 1934
Act) disclosing that such a person is the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the
outstanding stock of the Company;
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Biofrontera Inc.

Notes
c. The purchase by any person (as defined in Section 13(d) of the 1934 Act), corporation or other entity, other than the

Company or a wholly owned subsidiary or the parent company of the Company, of shares pursuant to a tender or
exchange offer, to acquire any stock of the Company (or securities convertible into stock) for cash, securities or any
other consideration provided that, after consummation of the offer, such person, group, corporation or other entity is the
beneficial owner (as defined in rule 13d-3 under the 1934 Act), directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the outstanding
stock of the Company (calculated as provided in paragraph (d) of Rule 13d-3 under the 1934 act in the case of rights to
acquire stock); or

d. The combination or merger of the Company with another company in which the Company is the surviving corporation
but, immediately after the combination, the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the combination do not
hold, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting stock of the combined company (therefore being excluded from
the number of shares held by such shareholders, but not from the voting stock of the combined company, any shares
received by affiliates (as defined in the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission) of such other company in
exchange for stock of such other company).

11. INDEBTEDNESS OF EXECUTIVE
If, during the course of his employment, Executive becomes indebted to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)
1. Business Overview
Biofrontera Inc. (the “Company” or “Biofrontera”) is a U.S.-based biopharmaceutical company commercializing a portfolio of
pharmaceutical products for the treatment of dermatological conditions with a focus on photodynamic therapy (“PDT”) and topical
antibiotics. The Company’s licensed products are used for the treatment of actinic keratoses, which are pre-cancerous skin lesions
as well as impetigo, a bacterial skin infection. In May 2023, the Company began research for any reason, the Company shall, if it so
elects, have the right to set off and development (“R&D”) activities to support PDT growth and will continue collect any sums due
it from the Executive out of any amounts which it may owe to opportunistically invest in these activities going forward. Our
research and development program currently aims to improve the capabilities of our BF-RhodoLED® lamps to better fulfill the
needs of dermatologists and improve the effectiveness of our commercial team by letting sales representatives carry approved
devices with them allowing Executive for easier product demonstrations and evaluations.
Biofrontera includes its wholly owned subsidiary Bio-FRI GmbH (“Bio-FRI”), a limited liability company organized under the
laws of Germany. Our subsidiary, Bio-FRI was formed on February 9, 2022, as a German presence to facilitate our relationship
with the Ameluz Licensor.
Our principal licensed product is Ameluz®, which is a prescription drug approved for use in combination with the RhodoLED®

lamp series, for PDT. unpaid compensation. In the United States, event that the PDT treatment is used Agreement terminates for any
reason, all sums owed by the lesion-directed Executive to the Company shall become immediately due and field-directed treatment
of actinic keratoses of mild-to-moderate severity on the face and scalp. We are currently selling Ameluz® for this indication in the
U.S. under an exclusive license and supply agreement (“Ameluz LSA”) with Biofrontera Pharma (“Pharma”) GmbH and
Biofrontera Bioscience GmbH (“Bioscience” and together, the “Ameluz Licensor”)payable.
Our second prescription drug licensed product is Xepi® (ozenoxacin cream, 1%), a topical non-fluorinated quinolone that inhibits
bacterial growth. It is approved for use in the United States in adults and children 2 months and older. We are currently selling
Xepi® for this indication in the United States under an exclusive license and supply agreement, as amended (“Xepi LSA”) with
Ferrer Internacional S.A. (“Ferrer”) that was assumed by Biofrontera on March 25, 2019 through our acquisition of Cutanea Life
Sciences, Inc.(“Cutanea”). There has been limited revenue during the current reporting periods and recent developments with the
third-party manufacturer that was providing our supply of Xepi® have resulted in further delays of our commercialization of the
product. However, Ferrer is qualifying a new Contract manufacturer, Cambrex, which is expected to begin production in 2024.
 
Reverse Stock Split
12. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
 
On June 28, 2023, the Company, filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the
“Amendment”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware to (i) effect a 1-for-20 reverse stock split (the “Reverse Stock
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Split”) of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”), and (ii) effect a related proportional
reduction in the number of the Company’s authorized shares of Common Stock from 300,000,000 to 15,000,000 (the “Authorized
Share Reduction”).
a. Non-assignment: Neither the Agreement nor any right or interest hereunder shall be assigned by the Executive or his

legal representatives.
 
Pursuant to the Amendment, the Reverse Stock Split and Authorized Share Reduction was effective at 11:59 p.m. on July 3, 2023
(the “Split Effective Time”), and the Common Stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on a post-split basis on July 5,
2023. The par value and other terms of the Common Stock were not affected.
b. Enforcement: If any term or condition or the Agreement shall be invalid or deemed unenforceable to any extent or in

any application, then the remainder of the Agreement, and such terms or conditions except to such extent or in such
application, shall not be affected thereby, and each and every term and condition of the Agreement shall be valid and
enforced to the fullest extent and in the broadest application permitted by law.

 
Following the Split Effective Time, every 20 shares of Biofrontera Common Stock issued and outstanding were automatically
combined and reclassified into one share of Common Stock. Outstanding equity-based awards, warrants and other equity rights
were proportionately adjusted pursuant to their terms and the number of shares authorized and reserved for issuance upon vesting
of restricted stock units or exercise of stock options and warrants were reduced proportionately. No fractional shares were issued as
a result of the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders who would otherwise hold a fractional share as a result of the Reverse Stock Split
received an additional share of Common Stock.
c. Notice: All notices or other communications required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to the Agreement shall be in

writing and shall be considered as delivered when received by the recipient.
 
Under the terms of the applicable warrant agreement, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant
will be proportionately decreased. Specifically, following effectiveness of the Reverse Stock Split, every 20 shares of Common
Stock that may be purchased pursuant to the exercise of public warrants now represents one share of Common Stock that may be
purchased pursuant to such warrants. Accordingly, for the Company’s warrants trading under the symbol “BFRIW”, every 20
warrants will be exercisable for one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $100.00 per share of Common Stock.
d. Application of Massachusetts Law: The Agreement, and the application or interpretation thereof, shall be governed

exclusively by its terms and by the laws of the State of Massachusetts. Venue shall be deemed located in Middlesex
County, Massachusetts.

 
The Reverse Stock Split affected all stockholders uniformly and did not alter any stockholder’s percentage interest in the
Company’s equity (other than as a result of the rounding up of fractional shares). All information included in these consolidated
financial statements has been adjusted, on a retrospective basis, to reflect the Reverse Stock Split as if it had been effective from the
beginning of the earliest period presented, unless otherwise stated. All outstanding securities entitling their holders to purchase
shares of Common Stock or acquire shares of Common Stock, including stock options, restricted stock units, and warrants, were
adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Split.
e. Counterparts: The Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an

original, but all of which together shall constitute on and the same instrument.
 
Liquidity and Going Concern
The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are its existing cash balances, cash collected from the sales of its products, proceeds
from the sale of our investment, related party, and cash flows from a revolving line of credit. As of September 30, 2023, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $3.4 million and investment, related party of $3.3 million, compared to $17.2 million and $10.5
million as of December 31, 2022, respectively.
Since we commenced operations in 2015, we have generated significant losses. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, we incurred loss from operations of $18.8million and $13.0 million, respectively. We incurred net cash outflows from
operations of $16.0 million and $7.9 million, for the same periods, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit as of September 30,
2023 of $103.2million. Additionally, we expect to continue to incur operating losses due to significant discretionary sales and
marketing, medical affairs, and dermatology community outreach efforts as we seek to expand the commercialization of our
licensed products in the United States.
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In connection with our assessment of going concern considerations under applicable accounting standards, the Company’s
management has determined that substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year from
the date the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued.
The future viability of the Company is dependent on its ability to continue to execute its growth plan and raise additional capital or
find alternative methods of financing to fund its operations during the first half of 2024, and until cash flow from operations is
sufficient, if ever. We have implemented plans to improve our working capital position, particularly around inventory levels, and do
not expect to need a delivery until sometime in Q3 2024, depending on actual sales until then. Management believes that the
anticipated implementation of such plans, together with the recent net capital raise of $4.1 million (See Note 21, Subsequent
Events) will provide the opportunity for the Company to continue as a going concern. However, no assurance can be given that the
Company will be successful in these efforts.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets
and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to
the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from
the outcome of the uncertainties described above. There could be a material adverse effect on the Company and its financial
statements if management’s plans are not achieved on a timely basis.
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2. Summary
f. Binding Effect: Each of the provisions and agreements herein contained shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit

of the personal representatives, devisees, heirs, successors, transferees and assigns of the respective parties hereto.

g. Cooperation: During and following the active life of this Agreement, Executive shall give Executive’s assistance and
cooperation willingly, upon reasonable notice (which shall include due regard to the extent reasonably feasible for
Executive’s employment obligations and prior commitments), in any matter relating to Executive’s position with the
Company or Executive’s knowledge as a result thereof as the company may reasonably request, including Executive’s
attendance and truthful testimony where deemed appropriate by the Company, with respect to any investigation or the
Company’s defense or prosecution of any existing or future claims or litigations or other proceeding relating to matters
in which he was involved or had knowledge by virtue of Executive’s employment with the Company. The Company will
reimburse Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket travel costs and expenses incurred by his (in accordance with
Company policy) as a result of providing such assistance.

h. Legal Fees and Costs: If a legal action is initiated by Executive against the Company, arising out of or relating to the
alleged performance or non-performance of any right or obligation established hereunder, or any dispute concerning the
same, any and all fees, costs and expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in investigating, preparing for,
defending against, or providing evidence, producing documents or taking any other action in respect of, such action shall
be the joint and several obligation of and shall be paid or reimbursed by Executive only if Executive is the unsuccessful
party. If any other legal action (other than that which is referenced above) is initiated by a party to the Agreement against
another, arising out of or relating to the alleged performance or non-performance of any right or obligation established
hereunder, or any dispute concerning the same, each party shall be responsible for its own fees, costs and expenses
reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing for, prosecuting, defending against, or providing evidence, producing
documents or taking any other action in respect thereof.

i. Indemnification: The Company hereby agrees to indemnify Executive and hold him harmless to the fullest extent
permitted by law and under the bylaws of the Company against and in respect to any and all actions, suits, proceedings,
claims, demands, judgements, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees), losses, and damages resulting from
Executive’s good faith performance of his duties and obligations with the Company, except in the case of gross
negligence or willful misconduct, whether or not such claims, demands, judgements, costs, expenses, losses, and
damages are asserted or filed during the active life of this Agreement.

j. Survival: The Parties’ obligations under Sections 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, and 12 shall survive the Termination of this agreement.
[Remainder of Significant Accounting Policiespage intentionally left blank; Signature page follows]

Basis for Preparation of the Financial Statements
The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared pursuant to
the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial reporting. Certain information
and footnote disclosures normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. In the Company’s
opinion, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all material adjustments, all of which are of a normal
and recurring nature, necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2023, the Company’s
operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the Company’s cash flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. The accompanying financial information as of December 31, 2022 is derived from
audited financial statements. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year. The information included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the Company’s reaudited consolidated financial statements for
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (“reaudited Consolidated Financial Statements”), and the revised
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021 (“revised MD&A”), filed in a Current Report on From 8-K with the SEC on October 3, 2023.
All amounts shown in these financial statements and tables are in thousands and amounts in the notes are in millions, except
percentages and per share and share amounts.
With the exception of the accounting policies below, there have been no new or material changes to the  significant accounting
policies discussed in the Company’s reaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.:
Reverse Stock Split
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All information included in these consolidated financial statements has been adjusted, on a retrospective basis, to reflect the
Reverse Stock Split as if it had been effective from the beginning of the earliest period presented, unless otherwise stated. All
outstanding securities entitling their holders to purchase shares of Common Stock or acquire shares of Common Stock, including
stock options, restricted stock units, and warrants, were adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Split, as required by the terms of
those securities.
Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs include external costs of outside
vendors engaged to conduct research and development activities, and other operational costs related to the Company’s research and
development activities.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions by
management that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as
reported on the balance sheet date, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses arising during the reporting period. The
main areas in which assumptions, estimates and the exercising of judgment are appropriate relate to, valuation allowances for
receivables and inventory, valuation of contingent consideration and warrant liabilities, realization of intangible and other long-
lived assets, product sales allowances and reserves, share-based payments and income taxes including deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Estimates are based on historical experience and other assumptions that are considered appropriate in the circumstances.
They are continuously reviewed but may vary from the actual values.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments, which requires entities to record expected credit losses for certain financial instruments, including
trade receivables, as an allowance that reflects the entity’s current estimate of credit losses expected to be incurred. The new
standard was effective for us on January 1, 2023, and did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
3. Acquisition Contract Liabilities
On March 25, 2019, we entered into an agreement (as amended, the “Share Purchase Agreement”) with Maruho Co, Ltd.
(“Maruho”) to acquire 100% of the shares of Cutanea Life Sciences, Inc. (“Cutanea”). As of the date of the acquisition, Maruho
owned approximately 29.9% of Biofrontera AG through its fully owned subsidiary Maruho Deutschland GmbH. Biofrontera AG is
our former parent, and currently a significant shareholder.
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Pursuant
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the Agreement,
BIOFRONTERA INC.

Daniel Hakansson
Secretary of the Board of Directors

Date
EXECUTIVE

Hermann Luebbert

Date
9

Exhibit 10.3

AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of May 10, 2024, by and between Biofrontera,
Inc, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) having its registered office at 120 Presidential Way, Suite 330, Woburn, MA 01801
and E. Fred Leffler, III (the “Executive”).

BACKGROUND INFORMATION
WHEREAS, the Company entered into a certain Employment Agreement with Executive, effective October 3, 2022 (the
“Employment Agreement”), securing the employment services of the Executive for an indefinite period of time and upon the
particular terms and conditions therein;
WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive wish to i) amend certain terms of said Employment Agreement, and ii) restate the
Employment Agreement in its entirety.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS
1. EMPLOYMENT AND TERM
The Company proposes to employ the Executive in the capacity of “Chief Financial Officer”. It is agreed that the Executive will
devote 100% of their working capacity to the Share Purchase performance of their duties hereunder and will directly report to the
Chief Executive Officer. This Agreement Maruho provided $7.3 million shall remain in start-up cost financing full force and effect
for Cutanea’s redesigned an indefinite period of time and is subject to termination pursuant to Section 9 of the Agreement.
2. DUTIES
During the term of the Agreement, whether initial or extended, the Executive shall render to the Company services as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company and shall perform such duties as may be designated by and subject to the supervision of the Chief
Executive Officer, and shall serve in such additional capacities appropriate to his responsibilities and skills as shall be designated
by the Chief Executive Officer. During such period, the Executive shall devote their full attention, time and energies as necessary to
the business affairs of the Company (subject to the terms of Section 1 above and Section 5 below) and will use reasonable business
efforts to promote the interests and reputation of the Company. Executive may only pursue non-competitive activities (“start-up
costs”). These start-up costs are as do not interfere with the complete performance of their obligations hereunder unless by prior
agreed of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.
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3. LOCATION OF EMPLOYMENT
Executive’s principal place of employment shall be at the Company’s headquarters, which is currently located in Woburn, MA.
Executive shall also be required to conduct reasonable business travel as directed by the Chief Executive Officer and consistent
with the Executive’s duties and responsibilities.
4. COMPENSATION
For the services to be rendered by the Executive under the Agreement, the Company shall pay a salary while Executive is rendering
such services and performing their duties hereunder, and the Executive shall accept such salary as full payment for such service.
The annual base salary will be $371,000.00 reduced by (i) Federal income tax withholding, (ii) FICA; and (iii) such other
reductions as may be agreed upon by the parties or required by law. The salary shall be paid back in bi-weekly installments and in
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll procedure. Executive is eligible to Maruho participate in the Company’s annual
merit review process, by which the Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, increase Executive’s base salary without the need
to formally amend this Agreement.
For each fiscal year in effect during the active life of this Agreement, the Executive shall be eligible to receive a cash bonus of up
to 40% of their base salary (the “Target Bonus”) upon the attainment of performance goals set in advance by the Chief Executive
Officer. During Executive’s first calendar year of employment, the Target Bonus shall be prorated based on the time Executive was
actively employed by the Company during calendar year. All Target Bonuses shall be paid after the completion of the Company’s
financial statements for the applicable fiscal year as and when bonuses are paid to members of senior management generally. The
actual amount of Executive’s bonus shall depend upon the level of achievement of set targets, however no bonus shall be paid if the
level of target achievement is below 70%.
Executive shall be eligible to participate in Company’s stock option plan. The number of options awarded to Executive shall be at
the discretion of the Board of Directors. At the time of hire, Executive shall receive 100,000 stock options, which shall be subject to
same vesting schedule and other terms, conditions, and restrictions imposed upon all awards made given under Company’s
employee stock option program.
Upon the Executive’s termination of employment, regardless of the reason for such termination and regardless of the party by
whom such termination is initiated, the Executive shall be entitled to immediate payment of all accrued but unpaid base salary and
expenses owed.
In addition, upon the Executive’s termination of employment either (i) by the Company for any reason other than termination for
“Cause” (under Section 9(d) of the Agreement) or (ii) by Executive for “Good Reason” (under Section 9(g)), the Executive shall be
entitled to receive a severance payment equal to one twelfth the Executive’s then-current annual base salary for each full year the
Executive has been employed by the Company; provided, however, that such payment (a) shall not be less than six (6) months of
Executive’s then-current base salary, and (b) shall not exceed two (2) full years of Executive’s then-current base salary. Such
severance payments shall be expressly conditioned upon the Executive’s execution and delivery to the Company of a waiver and
release of claims in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) and such Release becoming irrevocable no later
than sixty (60) days following Executive’s termination of employment. For the avoidance of doubt, the payments and benefits set
forth in this paragraph shall be forfeited if such Release has not been executed, delivered and become irrevocable within such sixty
(60) day period.
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5. VACATION; FRINGE BENEFITS; REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES
The Executive shall be entitled to paid time off in accordance with the Company’s standard policy. Executive shall not be entitled
to receive monetary or other valuable consideration for vacation time which is accrued but not taken, unless so ordered by the
Board of Directors. Timing of vacations shall be reasonably exercised by the Executive.
During their period of employment hereunder, the Executive shall further be entitled to (a) such leave by reason of physical or
mental disability or incapacity and to such participation in medical and life insurance, pension benefits, disability and other fringe
benefit plans as the Company may make generally available to all of its other employees from time to time; subject, however, as to
such plans, to such budgetary constraints or other limitations as may be imposed by the Board of Directors of the Company from
time to time; and (b) reimbursement for all normal and reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by their in the performance of
their obligations hereunder, subject to such reasonable substantiation requirements as may be imposed by the Company to all
employees of the Company, unless otherwise agreed to by the Board of Directors.
6. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND PROPRIETARY INTERESTS
Executive acknowledges that as Chief Financial Officer, they will receive Company’s Confidential Information. Executive
recognizes that all such Confidential Information is and shall remain the sole property of the Company, free of any rights of
Executive, and acknowledges that the Company has a vested interest in assuring that all such Confidential Information remains
secret and confidential. Therefore, Executive agrees that during or after the expiration of their term of employment with the
Company, the Executive shall not communicate or divulge to, or use for the benefit of, any individual, association, partnership,
trust, corporation or other entity except the Company, any Confidential Information received by the Executive by virtue of their
employment, without first being in receipt of the Company’s written consent to do so.
For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” means:
a. All information developed or used by the Company or its associates relating to business operations, including but not

limited to customer lists, purchase orders, supplier or distributor information, financial data, pricing information and
price lists, business plans, marketing strategies, personnel records, and all books, records, manuals, advertising
materials, catalogues, correspondences, mailing lists, production data, and purchasing materials; and
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b. All proprietary information of the company (or any records related to the same), including but not limited to all trade
secrets, inventions, processes, procedures, research records, market surveys or marketing know-how, trademarks,
copyrights, patents, and patent applications.

c. All information of the Company disclosed during the course of activities performed on behalf of the Board of Directors
including discussions, votes, or other information whether publicly disclosed or not.

The term “Confidential Information” shall not include information that is or becomes generally known to the public other than as a
result of a disclosure by Executive in violation of this Agreement, or by any other employee of the Company subject to
confidentiality obligations.
7. NON-COMPETITION/NON-SOLICITATION
During the term of their employment hereunder and for a period of one (1) year following the earlier of (i) either party’s notice of
termination under Section 9(b), or (ii) the actual termination hereof for any reason other than (a) the Company’s discontinuance of
activities; or (b) an adjudication of the Company’s material breach of any of its obligations set forth in Sections 1, 2, 4, and 5
inclusive, the “Restricted Period”), the Executive shall not, without prior written consent by the Board of Directors of the
Company, directly or indirectly, engage in or become an owner of, render any service to, enter the employment of, or represent or
solicit for any business which competes with any activity of the Company conducted at any time during the Executive’s period of
employment and which is located in the United States. The parties expressly agree that the duration and geographical area of the
restrictive covenant are reasonable.
The covenant shall be construed as an agreement independent of any other provision herein; and the existence of any claim or cause
of action of the Executive against the Company regardless of how arising, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the
Company or its terms. If any portion of the covenant is held by a court to be unenforceable with respect either to its duration or
geographical area, for whatever reason, it shall be considered divisible both as to time and geographical area, resulting in an
intended requirement that the longest lesser period of time or largest lesser geographical area found by such court to be a
reasonable restriction shall remain an effective restrictive covenant, specifically enforceable against the Executive.
Notwithstanding any statement contained in this Section to the contrary, legal or beneficial ownership by the Executive of a less
than five percent (5%) interest in a competitive corporation the stock of which is publicly traded on a stock exchange or by means
of an electronic dealer quotation system, shall not of itself be deemed to constitute a breach by the Executive of the terms hereof.
Additionally, during the Executive’s employment with the Company and thereafter during the Restricted Period, the Executive shall
not, and shall not permit any third party subject to Executive’s direction or control to, directly or indirectly, (i) call upon, accept
business from, or solicit the business of any Person who is, or who had been at any time during the preceding twelve months, a
customer or supplier of the Company, (ii) otherwise divert or attempt to divert any business from the Company, (iii) interfere with
the business relationships between the Company and any of its customers, suppliers or others with whom they have business
relationships or (iv) recruit or otherwise solicit or induce, or enter into or participate in any plan or arrangement to cause, any
Person who is an employee of, or otherwise performing services for, the Company to terminate their employment or other
relationship with the Company, or hire any Person who has left the employ of or ceased providing services to the Company during
the Restricted Period.
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8. REMEDIES FOR BREACH OF EXECUTIVE OBLIGATIONS
The parties to the agreement agree that the services of the Executive are of a personal, specific, unique and extraordinary character
and cannot be readily replaced by the Company. They further agree that in the course of performing their services, the Executive
will have access to various types of proprietary information of the Company, which, if released to others or used by the Executive
other than for the benefit of the Company, in either case without the Company’s written consent, could cause the Company to suffer
irreparable injury. Therefore, the obligation of the Executive established under Section 6 and Section 7 hereof shall be enforceable
both at law and in equity, by injunction, specific performance, damages or other remedy; and the right of the Company to obtain
any such remedy shall be cumulative and not alternative and shall not be exhausted by any one or more uses thereof. Any
adjudication against Executive by the Company shall be in accordance with the laws of Massachusetts and Massachusetts employee
rights.
9. MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

a. Modification. The Agreement may be amended or modified only with the mutual written consent of the parties, and in
its present form consists of the entire Agreement between and amongst the parties.

b. Termination-General. The Agreement may be terminated by either party by giving 180 (one hundred and eighty) days’
notice to the other party, and by the Company upon the occurrence of any one of the following events: (a) the death of
the Executive; (b) the occurrence to Executive of a physical or mental disability which, in the judgment (reasonably
exercised) of the Chief Executive Officer, renders Executive unable to perform their normal duties on behalf of the
Company for a continuous period of six (6) months (measured from the first day of the month immediately following the
occurrence of such disability); or (c) a determination by the Chief Executive Officer that there is “Cause” (as described
in section (d) below) to terminate Executive’s employment.

c. By Death or Disability. In the event of the Executive’s death, their base compensation otherwise due for the succeeding
period of time but no less than three (3) full calendar months following their death shall be paid to their designated
beneficiary, or to their estate if no beneficiary has been designated. In the event of their disability the Executive shall be
paid their compensation for the succeeding period of time but no less than three (3) months. Thereafter for the
succeeding three (3) months shall be treated as being on an authorized unpaid leave of absence.
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d. For Cause. For purposes of the Agreement, the term “Cause” shall include, but not be limited to (i) the Executive’s
willful misconduct or gross negligence; (ii) Executive’s conscious disregard of their obligations hereunder or of any
other duties reasonably assigned by the Chief Executive Officer; (iii) Executive’s repeated conscious violation of any
provision of the law, the Company’s By-Laws or of its other stated policies, standards, practices, regulations or
procedures; (iv) Executive’s commission of any act involving moral turpitude; (v) a determination that Executive has
demonstrated a dependence upon any addictive substance, including but not limited to alcohol, controlled substances,
narcotics or barbiturates; or (vi) continued, willful and deliberate non-performance by the Executive of their duties
hereunder (other than by reason of the Executive’s physical or mental illness, incapacity or disability) which has
continued for more than 30 days following written notice of such non-performance from the Chief Executive Officer.

e. Continued Effectiveness of Certain Obligations. No termination or expiration of the Agreement, whether
consummated by action of either party or by operation of the terms hereof, shall relieve the Executive from their
continued performance of the obligations established under Sections 6 and 7 hereof.

f. Resignation as an Officer or Director. Immediately upon any termination of Executive’s employment for any reason,
Executive shall be deemed to have resigned any position he may then hold as an officer of the Company or a member of
the Board of Directors or similar body of any of Company’s affiliates, and as a fiduciary of any Company benefit plan.

g. “Good Reason”. Executive shall be considered to have “Good Reason” to resign their position in the event of: (i) a
material diminution in the Executive’s base compensation or Target Bonus below the amount as of the date of this
Agreement or as increased during the course of their employment with the Company, excluding one or more reductions
(totaling no more than 20% in the aggregate) generally applicable to all senior executives provided; (ii) a material
diminution in the Executive’s authority, duties or responsibilities; or (iii) a material change in the geographic location at
which the Executive must perform services.

If Executive believes that they have “Good Reason” to resign their position, Executive must provide written notice of the
occurrence of the event constituting Good Reason and their desire to terminate their employment with the Company on
account of such Good Reason within thirty (30) days of the occurrence. Thereafter, Company will have a period of thirty
(30) days following receipt of such written notice to cure the condition. If the Company does not cure the event
constituting Good Reason within such thirty (30) day period, the Executive’s employment will terminate the day
immediately following the end of 2023 such thirty (30) day period, unless the Company provides for an earlier
employment termination date.
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10. CHANGE OF CONTROL
If Executive’s termination of employment occurs within 3 months prior to or 12 months after a “Change in accordance with
contractual obligations related to an earn-out arrangement. In addition, as part of the earn-out arrangement with Maruho, the
product profit amount from the sale of Cutanea products Control” as defined in this section and such termination is either (a) by the
Share Purchase Agreement will Company without “Cause,” or (b) by Executive for “Good Reason,” then: (i) Executive would be
shared equally between Maruho and Biofrontera until 2030 (“contingent consideration”).
The contingent consideration was recorded at acquisition-date fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation with an assumed discount
rate of approximately 6.0% over the applicable term. The contingent consideration is recorded within acquisition contract
liabilities, net. The amount of contingent consideration that could be payable is not subject entitled to a cap under the agreement.
The Company re-measures contingent consideration and re-assesses the underlying assumptions and estimates at each reporting
period utilizing a scenario-based method. The contingent consideration liability was valued at $2.5 million with payments coming
due May of 2028 through May 2031.
Acquisition contract liabilities, net consist receive, in lieu of the following:

(in thousands)   

September 30,

2023    

December 31,

2022  
Short-term acquisition contract liabilities:                
                 
Start-up cost financing     7,300       7,300  
Contract asset     (89 )     (358 )
Acquisition contract liabilities, net   $ 7,211     $ 6,942  
                 
Long-term acquisition contract liabilities:                
Contingent consideration   $ 2,500     $ 2,400  
                 
Total acquisition contract liabilities:                
Contingent consideration   $ 2,500     $ 2,400  
Start-up cost financing     7,300       7,300  
Contract asset     (89 )     (358 )
Total acquisition contract liabilities, net   $ 9,711     $ 9,342  
4. Fair Value Measurements
The following table presents information about their current base salary and target annual bonus for the then current fiscal year (or
if higher, the target annual bonus for the fiscal year immediately prior to the Change in Control), and (ii) Subject to the Executive’s
copayment of premium amounts at the active employees’ rate, the Executive may continue to participate in the Company’s
assets group health, dental and vision program for 12 months; provided, however, that are measured at fair value on the continuation
of health benefits under this Section shall reduce and count against the Executive’s rights under COBRA.
For the purposed of this Agreement, a recurring basis at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and indicates “Change in
Control” shall mean the fair value hierarchy occurrence of any of the valuation inputs following events:
a. The approval by stockholders of the Company of:

1. Any consolidation or merger of the Company in which the company is not the continuing or surviving
corporation, or

2. A sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or
substantially all the assets of the Company to a party which is not controlled by the Company;

b. Either:

1. The receipt by the Company of a report on schedule 13D, or an amendment to such a report, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “1934 Act”) disclosing that any person, group, corporation or other entity (a “Person”) has become
the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 30% or more of the outstanding stock of the Company, or
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2. The actual knowledge by the Company of facts, on the basis of which any person is required to file such a
report on schedule 13D, or an amendment to such a report, with the SEC (or would be required to file such a
report or amendment upon the lapse of the applicable period of time specified in Section 13(d) of the 1934
Act) disclosing that such a person has become the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 30% or more of
the outstanding stock of the Company;

c. The purchase by any person (as defined in Section 13(d) of the 1934 Act), corporation or other entity, other than the
Company or a wholly owned subsidiary or a parent company of the Company, of shares pursuant to a tender or exchange
offer, to acquire any stock of the Company (or securities convertible into stock) for cash, securities or any other
consideration provided that, after consummation of the offer, such person, group, corporation or other entity is the
beneficial owner (as defined in rule 13d-3 under the 1934 Act), directly or indirectly, of 30% or more of the outstanding
stock of the Company (calculated as provided in paragraph (d) of Rule 13d-3 under the 1934 act in the case of rights to
acquire stock); or

d. The combination or merger of the Company with another company in which the Company is the surviving corporation
but, immediately after the combination, the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the combination do not
hold, directly or indirectly, more than 30% of the voting stock of the combined company (therefore being excluded from
the number of shares held by such shareholders, but not from the voting stock of the combined company, any shares
received by affiliates (as defined in the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission) of such other company in
exchange for stock of such other company).
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11. INDEBTEDNESS OF EXECUTIVE
If, during the course of their employment, Executive becomes indebted to the Company utilized for any reason, the Company shall,
if it so elects, have the right to determine such fair value: set off and to collect any sums due it from the Executive out of any
amounts which it may owe to the Executive for unpaid compensation. In the event that the Agreement terminates for any reason, all
sums owed by the Executive to the Company shall become immediately due and payable.
12. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

a. Non-assignment: Neither the Agreement nor any right or interest hereunder shall be assigned by the Executive or their
legal representatives.

b. Enforcement: If any term or condition or the Agreement shall be invalid or deemed unenforceable to any extent or in
any application, then the remainder of the Agreement, and such terms or conditions except to such extent or in such
application, shall not be affected thereby, and each and every term and condition of the Agreement shall be valid and
enforced to the fullest extent and in the broadest application permitted by law.

c. Notice: All notices or other communications required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to the Agreement shall be in
writing and shall be considered as delivered when received by the recipient.

d. Application of Massachusetts Law: The Agreement, and the application or interpretation thereof, shall be governed
exclusively by its terms and by the laws of the State of Massachusetts. Venue shall be deemed located in Middlesex
County, Massachusetts.

e. Counterparts: The Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, but all of which together shall constitute on and the same instrument.

f. Binding Effect: Each of the provisions and agreements herein contained shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit
of the personal representatives, devisees, heirs, successors, transferees and assigns of the respective parties hereto.
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g. Cooperation: During and following the active life of this Agreement, Executive shall give Executive’s assistance and
cooperation willingly, upon reasonable notice (which shall include due regard to the extent reasonably feasible for
Executive’s employment obligations and prior commitments), in any matter relating to Executive’s position with the
Company or Executive’s knowledge as a result thereof as the company may reasonably request, including Executive’s
attendance and truthful testimony where deemed appropriate by the Company, with respect to any investigation or the
Company’s defense or prosecution of any existing or future claims or litigations or other proceeding relating to matters
in which he was involved or had knowledge by virtue of Executive’s employment with the Company. The Company will
reimburse Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket travel costs and expenses incurred by Executive (in accordance with
Company policy) as a result of providing such assistance.

h. Legal Fees and Costs: If a legal action is initiated by any party to the Agreement against another, arising out of or
relating to the alleged performance or non-performance of any right or obligation established hereunder, or any dispute
concerning the same, any and all fees, costs and expenses reasonably incurred by each successful party in investigating,
preparing for, prosecuting, defending against, or providing evidence, producing documents or taking any other action in
respect of, such action shall be the joint and several obligation of and shall be paid or reimbursed by the unsuccessful
party.

i. Indemnification: The Company hereby agrees to indemnify Executive and hold Executive harmless to the fullest extent
permitted by law and under the bylaws of the Company against and in respect to any and all actions, suits, proceedings,
claims, demands, judgements, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees), losses, and damages resulting from
Executive’s good faith performance of their duties and obligations with the Company, except in the case of gross
negligence or willful misconduct, whether or not such claims, demands, judgements, costs, expenses, losses, and
damages are asserted or filed during the active life of this Agreement.

j. Survival: The Parties’ obligations under Sections 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, and 12 shall survive the Termination of this agreement.
[Remainder of Fair Value Hierarchy Valuation Inputs page intentionally left blank; Signature page follows]

(in thousands)   Level    
September 30,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Assets:                        
Investment, related party     1     $ 3,341     $ 10,548  
Liabilities:                        
Contingent Consideration     3     $ 2,500     $ 2,400  
Warrant liability – 2022 Purchase Warrants     3     $ 366     $ 1,129  
Warrant liability - 2022 Inducement Warrants     3     $ 476     $ 1,714  
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Investment, related party
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed the Agreement,
COMPANY

Daniel Hakansson
Secretary of the Board of Directors

Date
EXECUTIVE

E. Fred Leffler, III

Date
As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company has an investment in 5,745,678 and 6,446,946, respectively of
common shares of Biofrontera AG, a company traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and a significant shareholder of
Biofrontera. The fair value of this investment was determined with Level 1 inputs through references to quoted market prices. See
Note 6. Investment Related Party and Note 13. Related Party Transactions.
Contingent Consideration
Contingent consideration, which relates to the estimated profits from the sale of Cutanea products to be shared equally with
Maruho, is reflected at fair value within acquisition contract liabilities, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value is
based on significant inputs not observable in the market, which represent a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy.
The valuation of the contingent consideration utilizes a scenario-based method under which a set of payoffs are calculated using the
term of the earnout, projections, and an appropriate metric risk premium. These payoffs are then discounted back from the payment
date to the valuation date using a payment discount rate. The scenario-based method incorporates the following key assumptions:
(i) the forecasted product profit amounts, (ii) the remaining contractual term, (iii) a metric risk premium, and (iv) a payment
discount rate. The Company re-measures contingent consideration and re-assesses the underlying assumptions and estimates at each
reporting period.
The following table provides a roll forward of the fair value of the contingent consideration:
(in thousands)      
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 2,400  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     100  
Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 2,500  
         
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 6,200  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     (4,100 )
Balance at September 30, 2022   $ 2,100  
Warrant Liabilities
The warrant liabilities are comprised of (i) currently outstanding warrants to purchase 170,950 shares of Common Stock originally
issued in a private placement on May 16, 2022, expiring five and one-half years after the issue date and with an exercise price of
$55.40 per share (the “Purchase Warrants”), and (ii) a warrant to purchase 214,286 shares of Common Stock issued on July 26,
2022, expiring on December 1, 2026 with an exercise price of $33.20 per share (the “Inducement Warrants”) and were accounted
for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40 and are presented within warrant liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value
presented within the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company utilizes a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the Purchase Warrants and Inducement
Warrants which is considered a Level 3 fair value measurement. Certain inputs utilized in our Black-Scholes pricing model may
fluctuate in future periods based upon factors which are outside of the Company’s control. A significant change in one or more of
these inputs used in the calculation of fair value may cause a significant change to the fair value of our warrant liabilities which
could also result in material non-cash gain or loss being reported in our consolidated statements of operations.
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The fair value for the Level 3 warrants at September 30, 2023 was estimated using a Black-Scholes pricing model based on the
following assumptions:
    Purchase     Inducement  
Stock price   $ 8.77     $ 8.77  
Expiration term (in years)     4.13       3.17  
Volatility     80.0 %     80.0 %
Risk-free Rate     4.63 %     4.73 %
Dividend yield     0.0 %     0.0 %
The fair value for the Level 3 warrants at December 31, 2022 was estimated using a Black-Scholes pricing model based on the
following assumptions:
    Purchase     Inducement  
Stock price   $ 18.40     $ 18.40  
Expiration term (in years)     4.88       3.92  
Volatility     70.0 %     75. %
Risk-free Rate     3.96 %     4.07 %
Dividend yield     0.0 %     0.0 %
The following table presents the changes in the Level 3 warrant liabilities measured at fair value (in thousands):

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  
    2023     2022  

Fair value at beginning of period   $ 2,843     $ 12,854  
Issuance of new warrants     -       13,217  
Exercise of warrants     -       (6,840 )
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     (2,001 )     (15,267 )
Fair value at end of period   $ 842     $ 3,964  
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5. Revenue
We generate revenue primarily through the sales of our licensed products Ameluz®, BF-RhodoLED® lamps and Xepi®. Revenue
from the sales of our BF-RhodoLED® lamp and Xepi® are relatively insignificant compared with the revenues generated through
our sales of Ameluz®.
Related party revenue relates to an agreement with Bioscience for BF-RhodoLED® leasing and installation service. Refer to Note
13, Related Party Transactions.
An analysis of the changes in product revenue allowances and reserves is summarized as follows:

(in thousands):   Returns    

Co-pay
assistance
program    

Prompt pay
discounts    

Government
and payor

rebates     Total  
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 43     $ 101     $ 48     $ 54     $ 246  
Provision related to current period sales     8       503       16       164       691  
Credit or payments made during the period     (5 )     (400 )     (23 )     (149 )     (577 )
Balance at September 30, 2022   $ 46     $ 204     $ 41     $ 69     $ 360  
                                         
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 48     $ 9     $ 5     $ 20     $ 82  
Provision related to current period sales     4       156       3       266       429  
Credit or payments made during the period     -       (145 )     (2 )     (231 )     (378 )
Balance at September 30, 2023   $ 52       20       6       55       133  
6. Investment, Related Party
As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, our investment in equity securities consisted solely of 5,745,678 and 6,446,946,
respectively of common shares of Biofrontera AG, a significant shareholder. (See Note 13. Related Party Transactions). Of these
shares, 3,377,346 are not fully in our control to vote or dispose of as we see fit as they are not held in a brokerage account
registered in our name, however, we are currently engaged with advisors to transfer such shares to our brokerage account. Equity
securities gains and losses include unrealized gains and losses from changes in fair values during the period on equity securities we
still own, as well as gains and losses on securities we sold during the period. As reflected in the consolidated statements of cash
flows, we received proceeds from sales of equity securities of approximately $0.6 million during the nine months ended September
30, 2023.
Unrealized losses on investment, related party were $1.9 million and $6.2 million, respectively, for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2023. There were no unrealized gains and losses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022.

   
Three months ended


September 30,    
Nine months ended


September 30,  
(in thousands)   2023     2022     2023     2022  
                         
Net losses recognized during the period on equity
securities   $ (2,212 )   $ -     $ (6,635 )   $ -  
Less: Net realized losses on equity securities sold     345       -       420       -  
Unrealized losses recognized during the reporting
period on equity securities still held at the reporting date   $ (1,867 )   $ -     $ (6,215 )   $ -  
7. Accounts Receivable, net
Accounts receivables are mainly attributable to the sale of Ameluz®. It is expected that all trade receivables will be settled within
twelve months of the balance sheet date. Trade accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value. The allowance for credit
losses reflects our best estimate of expected credit losses of the receivables determined on the basis of historical experience and
current information. In developing the estimate for expected credit losses, trade accounts receivables are segmented into pools of
assets depending primarily on delinquency status, and fixed reserve percentages are established for each pool of trade accounts
receivables.
In determining the reserve percentages for each pool of trade accounts receivables, we considered our historical experience with
certain customers, regulatory and legal environments and other relevant current and future forecasted macroeconomic factors. If we
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become aware of any customer-specific factors that impact credit risk, specific allowances for these known troubled accounts are
recorded.
The allowance for credit losses was $0.2 million and $0.1 million as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.
8. Other Receivables, Related Party
As of September 30, 2023 the Company has a receivable, related party of $2.7 million primarily due from Biofrontera AG for its
50% share of the balance of a legal settlement (See Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies – Legal proceedings) for which both
parties are jointly and severally liable. The Company has a contractual right to repayment of its share of the settlement payments,
plus interest and other miscellaneous settlement costs, from Biofrontera AG under the Settlement Allocation Agreement
(“Allocation Agreement”) entered into on December 9, 2021 and as amended on March 31, 2022, which provides that the
settlement payments would first be made by the Company and then reimbursed by Biofrontera AG for its share. The Allocation
Agreement, as amended, provides certain remedies to the Company, if Biofrontera AG fails to make timely reimbursements, which
the Company may implement in its sole discretion, including the ability to charge interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum for each day
that any reimbursement is past due and the ability to offset any overdue reimbursement amounts against payments owed to
Biofrontera AG by the Company (including amounts owed under the Company’s license and supply agreement for Ameluz®). As
such, no reserve for the receivable was deemed necessary as of September 30, 2023 or December 31, 2022.
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9. Intangible Asset, Net
Intangible asset, net consists of the following:

(in thousands)  

September 30,

2023    

December 31,

2022  
Xepi® license   $ 4,600     $ 4,600  
Less: Accumulated amortization     (1,882 )     (1,568 )
Intangible asset, net   $ 2,718     $ 3,032  
The Xepi® license intangible asset was recorded at acquisition-date fair value of $4.6 million and is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the useful life of 11 years. Amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $0.1
million and $0.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.
We review the Xepi® license intangible asset for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. There has been limited revenue during the current reporting periods and
recent developments with the third-party manufacturer that was providing our supply of Xepi® have resulted in further constraints
on the commercialization of the product. However, Ferrer is qualifying a new Contract manufacturer, Cambrex, which is expected
to begin production in 2024.
The Company performed an impairment analysis because of this situation and determined no impairment charges were deemed
necessary during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023.
10. Cash Balances and Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliation
The Company maintains its cash balances at financial institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”). The FDIC provides coverage of up to $250,000 per depositor, per financial institution. At September 30, 2023,
approximately $3.0 million of the Company’s cash balances were in excess of FDIC limits. The Company has not experienced any
losses on these accounts and management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any significant risks.
Restricted cash consists primarily of deposits of cash collateral held in accordance with the terms of our corporate credit cards.
Long-term restricted cash was recorded in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash that sum to the total shown in the
consolidated statements of cash flows:

(in thousands)  

September 30,

2023    

December 31,

2022  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,422     $ 17,208  
Long-term restricted cash     200       200  
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown on the consolidated
statements of cash flows   $ 3,622     $ 17,408  
11. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

(in thousands)  

September 30,

2023    

December 31,

2022  
Legal settlement (See note 18)   $ 6,028     $ 6,207  
Employee compensation and benefits     2,948       2,850  
Professional fees     1,253       1,353  
Product revenue allowances and reserves     134       82  
Other     676       372  
Total   $ 11,039     $ 10,864  
12. Line of Credit
On May 8, 2023, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with MidCap Business Credit
LLC, providing us with a revolving line of credit in the aggregate principal amount of up to $6.5 million, subject to a borrowing
base and an availability block, with a maturity date of May 8, 2026. The Loan Agreement is secured by a lien on substantially all of
the assets of the Company, subject to customary exceptions.
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Advances under the Loan Agreement bear interest at the 30-Day Adjusted Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR Rate”),
set monthly on the first day of the month based on 30-Day Term SOFR plus a spread adjustment of 15 basis points and subject to a
floor of 2.25%, plus 4.00% calculated and charged monthly in arrears. In the event of a called event of default, a default interest
rate of 3.00% percent shall be added to the aforementioned rate. Under the terms of the Loan Agreement, amounts available for
advances would be subject to a borrowing base, which is a formula based on certain eligible receivables and inventory, and a block
on such availability in the amount of $650,000. Currently, our borrowing capacity is based on our eligible receivables with an
additional $1.0 million borrowing capacity based on inventory. The borrowing base is up to 85% of accounts receivable, plus the
least of (a) $1.0 million for inventory and (b) 85% of accounts receivable, less borrowing base reserve, if any, as defined in the
Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement also includes an Unused Line Fee Rate of 0.375% of the Credit Limit less all outstanding
advances, which shall be paid on a monthly basis.
The interest rate as of September 30, 2023 was 5.48% and interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was
negligible. The Company recorded approximately $0.2 million of costs related to the line of credit as an asset to be amortized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the line of credit. The Company recognized minimal amortization expense in connection with
this Line of Credit for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, which is recorded as interest expense on the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations.
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13. Related Party Transactions
License and Supply Agreement
On October 8, 2021, we entered into an amendment to the Ameluz LSA under which the price we pay per unit will be based upon
our sales history. Under the agreement, the Company obtained an exclusive, non-transferable license to use Pharma’s technology to
market and sell the licensed products, Ameluz® and BF-RhodoLED® and must purchase the licensed products exclusively from
Pharma. As a result of this amendment, the purchase price we pay the Ameluz Licensor for Ameluz® will be determined in the
following manner:
● fifty percent of the anticipated net price per unit until we generate $30 million in revenue from sales of the products we license

from the Ameluz Licensor during a given Commercial Year (as defined in the Ameluz LSA);
● forty percent of the anticipated net price per unit for all revenues we generate between $30 million and $50 million from sales

of the products we license from the Ameluz Licensor; and
● thirty percent of the anticipated net price per unit for all revenues we generate above $50 million from sales of the products we

license from the Ameluz Licensor.
Purchases of the licensed products during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 were $5.1 million and $18.8
million, respectively, and $5.2 million and $16.6 million, respectively for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Amounts due and payable to Pharma as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were $7.0 million and $1.3 million,
respectively, which were recorded in accounts payable, related parties in the consolidated balance sheets.
Service Agreements
In December 2021, we entered into an Amended and Restated Master Contract Services Agreement, or “Services Agreement”,
which provides for the execution of statements of work that will replace the applicable provisions of our previous intercompany
services agreement dated January 1, 2016, or 2016 Services Agreement, by and among us, Biofrontera AG, Biofrontera Pharma and
Biofrontera Bioscience, enabling us to continue to use the IT resources of Biofrontera AG and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the
“Biofrontera Group”) as well as providing access to the Biofrontera Group’s resources with respect to quality management,
regulatory affairs and medical affairs. We currently have statements of work in place regarding IT, regulatory affairs, medical
affairs, and pharmacovigilance, and are continuously assessing the other services historically provided to us by Biofrontera AG to
determine 1) if they will be needed, and 2) whether they can or should be obtained from other third-party providers. As of
September 30, 2023, we have migrated away from Biofrontera AG to third party providers for most of our significant IT services.
Expenses related to the service agreement were $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2023 and $0.2 million and $0.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. These expenses were
recorded in selling, general and administrative, related party. Amounts due to Biofrontera AG related to the service agreement as of
September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, which were offset against other
receivables, related party in the consolidated balance sheet.
Clinical Lamp Lease Agreement
On August 1, 2018, the Company executed a clinical lamp lease agreement with Bioscience to provide lamps and associated
services.
Total revenue related to the clinical lamp lease agreement was minimal and $0.1 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2023, respectively and minimal for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, and was recorded as
revenues, related party. Amounts due from Bioscience for clinical lamp and other reimbursements were approximately $0.1 million
as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, which were recorded as other receivables, related party in the consolidated
balance sheets.
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Others
The Company has recorded a receivable of $2.8 million and $6.4 million as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively, due from Biofrontera AG for its 50% share of the balance of a legal settlement for which both parties are jointly and
severally liable. (See Note 8. Other Receivables, Related Party). There was no interest income recognized for the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 and $0.1 million of interest income for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, in connection with
this receivable.
As of September 30, 2023, our investment, related party is valued at $3.3 million and consists of 5,745,678common shares of
Biofrontera AG, a significant shareholder of the Company. See Note 6. Investment, Related Party.
14. Stockholders’ Equity
Under the Company’s Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of incorporation, effective July 3, 2023,
the Company is authorized to issue 15,000,000shares of Common Stock and 20,000,000shares of preferred stock, par value
$.001per share. See Note 1. Reverse Stock Split for information and disclosures relating to adjustments for the 1-for-20 Reverse
Stock Split.
The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held. Common Stockholders are not entitled to receive
dividends, unless declared by the Board of Directors. The Company has not declared dividends since inception. In the event of
liquidation of the Company, dissolution or winding up, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets
remaining after payment of liabilities. The Common Stock has no preemptive or conversion rights or other subscription rights.
There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are
fully paid and non-assessable.
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15. Equity Incentive Plans and Share-Based Payments
2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
In 2021, our Board of Directors adopted and our shareholders approved, the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan). Under the
original 2021 Plan, 137,500 shares are reserved and authorized for awards and the maximum contractual term is 10 years for stock
options issued under the 2021 Plan. On December 12, 2022, the 2021 Plan was amended by our stockholders and the number of
shares authorized for awards under the 2021 Plan was increased by 129,490 to 266,990. As of September 30, 2023, there were
163,362 shares available for future awards under the amended 2021 Plan.
Non-qualified stock options
We maintain the 2021 Plan for the benefit of our officers, directors and employees. Employee stock options granted under the 2021
Plan generally vest in equal annual installments over three years and are exercisable for a period of up to ten years from the grant
date. Non-employee director options vest in equal monthly installments following the date of grant and will be fully vested on the
one-year anniversary of the date of grant. All stock options are exercisable at a price as set by the Company at the time of the grant
but shall not be less than the market value of the common shares underlying the option on the grant date.
The Company recognizes the grant-date fair value of share-based awards granted as compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period. The fair value of stock options is estimated at the time of grant using the Black-Scholes (“BSM”)
option pricing model, which requires the use of inputs and assumptions such as the fair value of the underlying stock, exercise price
of the option, expected term, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and dividend yield. The Company elects to account for
forfeitures as they occur.
The fair value of each option was estimated on the date of the grant using the BSM option pricing model with the following
assumptions:
    Nine Months Ended September 30,  
    2023     2022  
Expected volatility     70% - 95 %     55% - 70 %
Expected term (in years)     6.0       5.24 -6.0  
Risk-free interest rate     3.5% - 3.9 %     1.34% - 4.10 %
Expected dividend yield     0.0 %     0.0 %
Share-based compensation expense of approximately $0.1 million and $0.5 million was recorded in selling, general and
administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2023, respectively and $0.3 million and $0.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022.
Options outstanding and exercisable under the employee share option plan as of September 30, 2023 and a summary of option
activity during the nine months then ended is presented below.

    Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term    

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022     86,951     $ 62.16                          
Granted     22,477     $ 13.98                  
Exercised     -     $ -                  
Canceled or forfeited     (31,480 )   $ 53.58                  
Outstanding at September 30, 2023     77,948     $ 51.74       8.45     $ 0  
Exercisable at September 30, 2023     24,210     $ 62.23       7.75     $ 0  
(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the fair

value of the Common Stock for the options that were in the money at September 30, 2023.
As of September 30, 2023, there was $1.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years.
Share-Based Compensation (RSUs)
Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) will vest annually over two years, subject to the recipient’s continued service with the Company
through the applicable vesting dates. The fair value of each RSU is estimated based on the closing market price of the Company’s
Common Stock on the grant date.
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Share-based compensation expense of $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the RSUs for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2023, respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and was
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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    Shares    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term        

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2022     17,176                 $ 52.20  
Awarded     -                 $ -  
Vested     (8,588 )               $ 52.20  
Canceled or forfeited     (3,817 )     0.63         $ -  
Outstanding at September 30, 2023     4,771       0.63         $ 52.20  
As of September 30, 2023, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs, which is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 0.6 years.
16. Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net consists of the following:

   
For three months ended


September 30,    
For nine months ended


September 30,  
(in thousands)   2023     2022     2023     2022  
                         
Interest expense   $ (43 )   $ (3 )   $ (77 )   $ (10 )
Interest expense, related party   $ (22 )   $ -     $ (22 )   $ -  
Contract asset interest expense     (90 )     (89 )     (268 )     (268 )
Interest income – related party     -       1       -       110  
Interest income – other     13       2       111       8  
Interest expense, net   $ (142 )   $ (89 )   $ (256 )   $ (160 )
Interest expense is comprised primarily of interest on our Loan and Security Agreement with MidCap Business Credit LLC.
Contract asset interest expense relates to the $1.7 million contract asset in connection with the $7.3 million start-up cost financing
received from Maruho under the Cutanea acquisition Share Purchase Agreement. The contract asset is amortized on a straight-line
basis using a 6% interest rate over the financing arrangement contract term, which ends on December 31, 2023.
Interest income - related party interest income relates to default interest on the recorded receivable of $6.1 million as of September
30, 2022 from Biofrontera AG for its 50% share of the balance of a legal settlement.
17. Net Earnings (Loss) per Share
Basic net earnings (loss) per common share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the
diluted weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The diluted shares include the dilutive effect of
stock-based awards based on the treasury stock method. In periods where a net loss is recorded, no effect is given to potentially
dilutive securities, since the effect would be anti-dilutive.
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholders (in thousands, except share and per share data):
    Three Months Ended     Nine Months Ended  
    September 30,     September 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  
Net income (loss)   $ (6,342 )   $ (2,566 )   $ (23,657 )   $ 2,145  
                                 
Shares:                                
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding     1,366,842       1,136,291       1,346,264       978,018  
Add: Effect of dilutive securities                                
Stock options and restricted stock units     -       -       -       2,233  
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding     1,366,842       1,136,291       1,346,264       980,251  
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Net earnings (loss) per share:                                
Basic   $ (4.64 )   $ (2.26 )   $ (17.57 )   $ 2.19  
Diluted   $ (4.64 )   $ (2.26 )   $ (17.57 )   $ 2.19  
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The following table sets forth the securities that were anti-dilutive for diluted EPS for the periods presented but which could
potentially dilute EPS in the future:
Nine Months Ended September 30,   2023     2022  
Common stock warrants     459,856       459,856  
Common stock options and RSUs     82,719       55,620  
Unit Purchase Options     20,182       20,182  
Common Stock warrants include Purchase Warrants, Inducement Warrants and warrants issued in the Initial Public Offering.
18. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company leases its corporate headquarters under an operating lease that expires in August 2025. The Company has the option
to extend the term of the lease for one five (5) year period upon written notice to the landlord. The extension period has not been
included in the determination of the ROU asset or the lease liability as the Company concluded that it is not reasonably certain that
it would exercise this option. The Company provided the landlord with a security deposit in the amount of $0.1 million, which was
recorded as other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company has also entered into a master lease agreement for its vehicles. After an initial non-cancelable twelve-month period,
each vehicle is leased on a month-to-month basis. Based on historical retention experience of approximately three years, the
vehicles have varying expiration dates through January 2027.
The components of lease expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 were as follows (in thousands except
lease term and discount rate):
Lease expense   Operating Leases  
Amortization of ROU assets (operating lease cost)   $ 390  
Interest on lease liabilities     54  
Total lease expense   $ 444  
Other Information      
Operational cash flow used for operating leases   $ 428  
Weighted -average remaining lease term (in years)     2.01  
Weighted -average discount rate     6.75 %
Future lease payments under non-cancelable leases as of September 30, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31,  
Future lease

commitments  
2023   $ 171  
2024     584  
2025     393  
2026     44  
2027     1  
Total future minimum lease payments     1,193  
Less imputed interest     (76 )
Total lease liability   $ 1,117  
Reported as:      
Operating lease liability, current   $ 555  
Operating lease liability, non-current     562  
Total   $ 1,117  
Cutanea payments
We have a contract in which we agreed to repay to Maruho $3.6 million on December 31, 2022 and $3.7 million on December 31,
2023 in start-up cost financing paid to us in connection with the Cutanea acquisition.
We have filed for arbitration against Maruho with the International Chamber of Commerce regarding issues with Maruho’s contract
manufacturer that were not disclosed at the time of the Share Purchase Agreement and therefore are withholding the repayment of
the start-up cost financing until a decision is reached through the arbitration process. The arbitration notes that Maruho breached
the agreement with Cutanea due to undisclosed manufacturing issues and seeks damages as well as a declaration that we are not
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obligated to repay Maruho. As such, the required contractual payments noted above have not been made as of the financial
statement filing date.
We are also obligated to share product profits with Maruho equally from January 1, 2020 through October 30, 2030. Refer to Note
3, Acquisition Contract Liabilities.
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Milestone payments with Ferrer Internacional S.A.
Under the Xepi LSA, we are obligated to make payments to Ferrer upon the occurrence of certain milestones. Specifically, we must
pay Ferrer i) $2,000,000 upon the first occasion when annual net sales of Xepi® under the Xepi LSA exceed $25,000,000, and ii)
$4,000,000 upon the first occasion annual net sales of Xepi® under the Xepi LSA exceed $50,000,000. No Xepi® milestones have
been achieved as of the financial statement filing date.
Licensing Agreement with Optical Tools
On December 2, 2022, the Company entered into the technology transfer agreement with Optical Tools LLC (“Optical Tools”), and
Stephen Tobin and Paul Sowyrda (the “Agreement”). The Agreement allowed for the transfer of the assigned patents and
trademarks, and upon notification by the Company to Optical Tools, the research and development of certain prototypes. The
Company paid a licensing fee of $0.2 million which was expensed during the year ended December 31, 2022.
On May 28, 2023, the Company authorized Optical Tools to design, develop, manufacture, and deliver at least two portable
photodynamic therapy lamp prototypes (“PDT Device”) using the technology in the assigned patents. The PDT Device provides
illumination, based on different light profiles, to the external skin surface of the human body. The Company shall reimburse Optical
Tools for all reasonable out-of-pocket, material and labor costs per the Agreement.
As part of the Agreement, Optical Tools will be eligible to receive regulatory and sales milestone payments totaling up to $1.0
million, and royalties of up to 3% of net revenue of certain products developed under this Agreement.
The Company did not make any milestone or royalty payments during the three or nine months ended September 30, 2023.
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Legal proceedings
At each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether or not a potential loss amount or a potential range of loss is probable and
reasonably estimable under the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 450, Contingencies. The Company expenses as incurred the legal
costs related to such legal proceedings.
Settlement Agreement with DUSA Pharmaceuticals Inc.
On November 29, 2021, the Company entered into a settlement and release agreement with respect to a lawsuit filed March 23,
2018 in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts in which we were alleged to have infringed on certain
patents and misappropriated certain trade secrets. In the settlement, the Company and Biofrontera AG together agreed to make an
aggregate payment of $22.5 million and engage a forensic expert to destroy data at issue in the litigation to settle the claims in the
litigation.
While Biofrontera AG has agreed to pay fifty percent of the settlement costs, we remain jointly and severally liable to DUSA
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“DUSA”) for the full cash settlement amount, meaning that in the event Biofrontera AG does not pay all or a
portion of the amount it owes under the settlement agreement, DUSA could compel us to pay Biofrontera AG’s share. As of
September 30, 2023, we have reflected a legal settlement liability in the amount of $6.0 million for the remaining payments due
under the settlement, including the estimated remaining cost of the forensic expert and a related receivable from related party of
$2.8 million for the remaining legal settlement costs to be reimbursed in accordance with the Settlement Allocation Agreement,
which provided that the settlement payments, including the cost of the forensic expert, would first be made by the Company and
then reimbursed by Biofrontera AG for its share. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, if DUSA believes Biofrontera has violated
any terms of the settlement and release agreement, the parties must engage in certain alternative dispute resolution activities,
including a meeting between company representatives and non-binding mediation before a court action can be initiated.
Settlement Agreement with Biofrontera AG
Pursuant to the terms of that certain Settlement Agreement, dated as of April 11, 2023, among the Company, Biofrontera AG and
certain current and former directors of the Company (the “Settlement Agreement”), the Company has taken or committed, among
other things, to take the following actions:

● On July 7, 2023, in connection with the Biofrontera AG settlement agreement, the board of directors of the Company
appointed Heikki Lanckriet to the Board. Mr. Lanckriet will serve as a Class I Director to hold office for a term expiring
at the annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders for fiscal year 2025. Mr. Lanckriet’s term as director began upon
his appointment at the July 7, 2023 meeting.

● The Company will begin a search, pursuant to the conditions set forth in the Settlement Agreement including a strike
right granted to the aforementioned director nominated by Biofrontera AG, for an additional director candidate, who is
fully independent from Biofrontera AG, Deutsche Balaton Aktiengesellschaft (“DB”) and any of their respective
affiliates, to be nominated for election as a Class II Director at the Company’s 2024 annual meeting of stockholders.

● The Board will increase its size to seven members, including the two directors appointed and elected pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement as noted above.

In addition, the Settlement Agreement contains provisions to maintain Biofrontera AG’s representation on the Board of Directors as
long as it holds at least 20% of the Company’s outstanding common stock and to limit further increases in the size of the Board of
Directors or changes to the Company’s stockholder rights plan. Under the Settlement Agreement, Biofrontera AG also agrees,
subject to certain conditions, to vote in support of the directors nominated by, and the proposals recommended by, the Board of
Directors.
Legal Claim
On September 13, 2023, Biofrontera was served with a complaint filed in United Stated District Court for the District of
Massachusetts by DUSA Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Sun Pharmaceutical Industries, Inc., and Sun Pharmaceutical Industries LTD
(collectively “DUSA” or “Plaintiffs”) in which DUSA alleges breach of contract, violation of the Lanham Act, and unfair trade
practices. All claims stem from allegations that Biofrontera has promoted its Ameluz product in a manner that is inconsistent with
its approved FDA labeling. Though this complaint was originally filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Massachusetts,
this matter has been transferred by agreement of the parties to the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey.
The Company denies the Plaintiffs’ claims and intends to defend these matters vigorously. Based on the Company’s assessment of
the facts underlying the above claims, the uncertainty of litigation and the preliminary stage of the case, the Company cannot
estimate the possibility of a material loss, nor the potential range of loss that may result from this action. If the final resolution of
the matter is adverse to the Company, it could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or
cash flows.
19. Retirement Plan
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The Company has a defined-contribution plan under Section 401(k) of Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k) Plan”). The 401(k) Plan
covers all employees who meet defined minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their
annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Company matches 50% of employee contributions up to a maximum of 6% of
employees’ salary.
Matching contribution costs paid by the Company for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 were $0.1 million and
$0.2 million, respectively and $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022, respectively.
20. Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to their own line items within the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow. Specifically, warrant inducement expense of $2.6 million was reclassed from change in fair
value of warrant liabilities for prior year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations.
21. Subsequent Events
We have completed an evaluation of subsequent events after the balance sheet date of September 30, 2023 through the date this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was submitted to the SEC.
Capital Raise
On October 30, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (“Purchase Agreement”) with an institutional
investor for the purchase and sale, in a registered public offering by the Company (the “Public Offering”) of an aggregate of
1,205,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, or pre-funded warrants to purchase Common Stock in lieu thereof, each of
which is coupled with a warrant to purchase one and one-half shares of Common Stock. Specifically, the Company agreed to issue
and sell to the institutional investor: (i) 150,000 shares of Common Stock at a combined offering price of $3.74, (ii) 1,055,000 pre-
funded warrants to purchase up to 1,055,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) at a combined offering price of
$3.7399 and (iii) 1,205,000 warrants to purchase up to 1,807,500 shares of Common Stock (the “Common Warrants”), resulting in
gross proceeds of approximately $4.5 million. The Public Offering closed on November 2, 2023.
The Common Warrants are exercisable upon issuance, will expire five years following the date of issuance and have an exercise
price of $3.55 per share. The Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable upon issuance, will expire five years following the date of
issuance and have an exercise price of $0.0001 per share.
Warrant Amendment
As previously reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 20, 2022, the Company issued (i) a common
stock purchase warrant, dated May 16, 2022 and exercisable until November 18, 2027, to purchase up to 170,950 shares of
Common Stock, at an exercise price of $55.40 and (ii) a common stock purchase warrant, dated July 26, 2022 and exercisable until
December 1, 2026, to purchase up to 214,286 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $33.20 (collectively, the “Existing
Warrants”) to an institutional investor.
On October 30, 2023, in connection with the Purchase Agreement, the Company entered into an amendment to the Existing
Warrants pursuant to which the Company agreed, effective November 2, 2023, to (i) revise the exercise price of the Existing
Warrants to $3.55 and (ii) extend the date until which the Existing Warrants can be exercised until November 2, 2028. No other
terms of the Existing Warrants were revised or changed.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements
The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements. Certain statements
in this Form 10-Q constitute “forward-looking statements”. Such statements include estimates of our expenses, future revenue,
capital requirements, our need for additional financing, statements regarding the efficacy and intended use of our technologies
under development, the timelines and strategy for bringing licensed products to market, the timeline for regulatory review and
approval of our licensed products, and other statements that are not historical facts, including statements which may be preceded by
the words “intends,” “may,” “will,” “plans,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “predicts,” “estimates,” “aims,” “believes,”
“hopes,” “potential” or similar words. Forward-looking statements are not guaranties of future performance, are based on certain
assumptions and are subject to various known and unknown risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Actual
results may differ materially from the expectations contained in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

● our reliance on sales of products we license from other companies as our sole source of revenue;
● the success of our competitors in developing generic topical dermatological products that successfully compete with our

licensed products;
● the success of our principal licensed product Ameluz®;
● the ability of Biofrontera Pharma, Biofrontera Bioscience and Ferrer Internacional S.A. (“Ferrer”), referred to

collectively as our (“licensors”) to establish and maintain relationships with contract manufacturers that are able to
supply us with enough of the licensed products to meet our demand;

● the ability of our licensors or our licensors’ manufacturing partners, as applicable, to supply Ameluz®, BF-RhodoLED®
lamps, Xepi® or other licensed products that we market in sufficient quantities and at acceptable quality and cost levels,
and to fully comply with current good manufacturing practice or other applicable manufacturing regulations;

● the ability of our licensors to successfully defend or enforce patents related to our licensed products;
20
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● the availability of insurance coverage and medical expense reimbursement for our licensed products;
● the impact of legislative and regulatory changes;
● competition from other pharmaceutical and medical device companies and existing treatments, such as simple curettage

and cryotherapy;
● our success in achieving profitability;
● our ability to obtain additional financing as needed to implement our growth strategy;
● the effect of the COVID-19 global pandemic, including mitigation efforts and economic effects;
● our ability to retain and recruit key personnel;
● such other risks identified in Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2022, Item 1A of Part II of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and any other filings with the SEC.
More detailed information about us and the risk factors that may affect the realization of forward-looking statements, including the
forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, is set forth in our filings with the SEC, including our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. We urge investors and security holders to read those documents
free of charge at the SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov. We do not undertake to publicly update or revise our forward-looking
statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
Note About Reverse Stock Split
All information included in these consolidated financial statements has been adjusted, on a retrospective basis, to reflect our 1-for-
20 Reverse Stock Split as if it had been effective from the beginning of the earliest period presented, unless otherwise stated.
Overview
Biofrontera Inc (the “Company” or “Biofrontera”). is a U.S.-based biopharmaceutical company commercializing a portfolio of
pharmaceutical products for the treatment of dermatological conditions with a focus on photodynamic therapy (“PDT”) and topical
antibiotics. The Company’s licensed products are used for the treatment of actinic keratoses, which are pre-cancerous skin lesions
as well as impetigo, a bacterial skin infection. In May 2023, the Company began research and development (“R&D”) activities to
support PDT growth and will continue to opportunistically invest in these activities going forward. Our research and development
program currently aims to improve the capabilities of our BF-RhodoLED® lamps to better fulfill the needs of dermatologists and
improve the effectiveness of our commercial team by letting sales representatives carry approved devices with them allowing for
easier product demonstrations and evaluations.
Biofrontera includes its wholly owned subsidiary Bio-FRI GmbH (“Bio-Fri”), a limited liability company organized under the laws
of Germany. Our subsidiary, Bioi-FRI was formed on February 9, 2022, as a German presence to facilitate our relationship with the
Ameluz Licensor.
Our principal licensed product is Ameluz®, which is a prescription drug approved for use in combination with the RhodoLED®

lamp series, for PDT. In the United States, the PDT treatment is used for the lesion-directed and field-directed treatment of actinic
keratoses (“AK”) of mild-to-moderate severity on the face and scalp. We are currently selling Ameluz® for this indication in the
U.S. under an exclusive license and supply agreement (“Ameluz LSA”) between Biofrontera and the Ameluz Licensors.
Our second prescription drug licensed product is Xepi® (ozenoxacin cream, 1%), a topical non-fluorinated quinolone that inhibits
bacterial growth. Currently, no antibiotic resistance against Xepi® is known and it has been specifically approved by the FDA for
the treatment of impetigo, a common skin infection, due to Staphylococcus aureus or Streptococcus pyogenes. It is approved for
use in the United States in adults and children 2 months and older. We are currently selling Xepi® for this indication in the United
States. under an exclusive license and supply agreement, as amended (“Xepi LSA”) with Ferrer Internacional S.A. (“Ferrer”) that
was assumed by Biofrontera on March 25, 2019 through our acquisition of Cutanea Life Sciences, Inc.(“Cutanea”). There has been
limited revenue during the current reporting periods and recent developments with the third-party manufacturer that was providing
our supply of Xepi® have resulted in further delays of our commercialization of the product. However, Ferrer is qualifying a new
Contract manufacturer, Cambrex, which is expected to begin production early 2024.
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Our principal objective is to increase the sales of our licensed products in the United States. The key elements of our strategy
include the following:
● expanding our sales in the United States of Ameluz® in combination with the BF-RhodoLED® lamp for the treatment of

minimally to moderately thick actinic keratoses of the face and scalp and positioning Ameluz® to be the standard of care in
the United States by growing our dedicated sales and marketing infrastructure in the United States;

● leveraging the potential for future approvals and label extensions of our portfolio products that are in the pipeline for the U.S.
market through the LSAs with our Licensors; and

● opportunistically adding complementary products or services to our portfolio by acquiring or licensing IP to further leverage
our commercial infrastructure and customer relationships.

We devote a substantial portion of our cash resources to the commercialization of our licensed products, Ameluz® and the BF-
RhodoLED® lamp series. We have financed our operating and capital expenditures through cash proceeds generated from our
product sales and proceeds received in equity financings.
We believe that important measures of our results of operations include product revenue, operating income (loss) and adjusted
EBITDA (a non-U.S. GAAP measure as defined below). Our sole source of product revenue is sales of products that we license
from certain related and unrelated companies. Our long-term financial objectives include consistent revenue growth and expanding
operating margins. Accordingly, we are focused on licensed product sales expansion to drive revenue growth and improve
operating efficiencies, including effective resource utilization, information technology leverage, and overhead cost management.
Key factors affecting our performance
As a result of a number of factors, our historical results of operations may not be comparable to our results of operations in future
periods, and our results of operations may not be directly comparable from period to period. Set forth below is a brief discussion of
the key factors impacting our results of operations.
Seasonality
Because traditional photodynamic therapy treatments using a lamp are performed more frequently during the winter, our revenue is
subject to some seasonality and has historically been higher during the first and fourth quarters than during the second and third
quarters.
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Supply Chain
While our Licensors take reasonable precautions to ensure the successful production of our commercially licensed products, their
contract manufacturers may experience a myriad of business difficulties (i.e., workforce instability, supply chain issues, erosion of
customer base, etc.) that could impact their financial solvency. In December 2021, we were notified by Ferrer of third-party
manufacturing delays for the Xepi® product. Although we have inventory of Xepi® on hand, we expect a delay in further shipments
of Xepi® for the next 6 to 12 months. Despite these delays, our total revenues will not be significantly impacted since the majority
of our revenues are from sales of Ameluz®. We continue to monitor the impacts of the supply chain on our business and are
focused on ensuring the stability of the supply chains for Ameluz® and BF-RhodoLED®.
Components of Our Results of Operations
Product Revenue, net
We generate product revenues through the third-party sales of our licensed products Ameluz®, BF-RhodoLED® lamps and Xepi®.
Revenues from product sales are recorded net of discounts, rebates and other incentives, including trade discounts and allowances,
product returns, government rebates, and other incentives such as patient co-pay assistance. Revenue from the sales of our BF-
RhodoLED® lamp and Xepi® are relatively insignificant compared with revenues generated through our sales of Ameluz®.
The primary factors that determine our revenue derived from our licensed products are:
● the level of orders generated by our sales force;
● the level of prescriptions and institutional demand for our licensed products; and
● unit sales prices.
Related Party Revenues
We also generate insignificant related party revenue in connection with an agreement with Biofrontera Bioscience to provide
RhodoLED® lamps and associated services for the clinical trials performed by Biofrontera Bioscience.
Cost of Revenues, Related Party
Cost of revenues, related party, is comprised of purchase costs of our licensed products, Ameluz® and BF-RhodoLED® lamps from
Biofrontera Pharma GmbH and insignificant inventory adjustments due to scrapped, expiring and excess products.
On October 8, 2021, we entered into an amendment to the Ameluz LSA under which the price we pay per unit will be based upon
our sales history. As a result of this amendment, the purchase price we pay the Ameluz Licensor for Ameluz® will be determined in
the following manner:
● fifty percent of the anticipated net price per unit until we generate $30 million in revenue from sales of the products we license

from the Ameluz Licensor during a given Commercial Year (as defined in the Ameluz LSA);
● forty percent of the anticipated net price per unit for all revenues we generate between $30 million and $50 million from sales

of the products we license from the Ameluz Licensor; and
● thirty percent of the anticipated net price per unit for all revenues we generate above $50 million from sales of the products we

license from the Ameluz Licensor.
Cost of Revenues, Other
Cost of revenues, other, is comprised of purchase costs of our licensed product, Xepi®, third-party logistics and distribution costs
including packaging, freight, transportation, shipping and handling costs, inventory adjustment due to expiring Xepi® products, as
well as sales-based Xepi® royalties.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist principally of costs associated with our sales force, commercial support
personnel, personnel in executive and other administrative functions, as well as medical affairs professionals. Other selling, general
and administrative expenses include marketing, trade, and other commercial costs necessary to support the commercial operation of
our licensed products and professional fees for legal, consulting and accounting services. Selling, general and administrative
expenses also include the amortization of our intangible asset and our legal settlement expenses.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, Related Party
Selling, general and administrative expenses, related party, primarily relate to the services provided by our significant stockholder,
Biofrontera AG, for IT support, and pharmacovigilance. In December 2021, we entered into an Amended and Restated Master
Contract Services Agreement, or “Services Agreement”, which provides for the execution of statements of work that supersede the
applicable provisions of the 2016 Services Agreement. The Services Agreement enables us to continue relying on Biofrontera AG
and its subsidiaries for various services it has historically provided to us, including IT and pharmacovigilance support for as long as
we deem necessary. We currently have statements of work in place regarding IT, regulatory affairs, medical affairs,
pharmacovigilance, and Investor Relations services, and are continuously assessing the other services historically provided to us by
Biofrontera AG to determine 1) if they will be needed, and 2) whether they can or should be obtained from other third-party
providers. As of September 30, 2023, we have migrated most of our significant IT services from Biofrontera AG to third party
providers.
Research and Development
Our current research and development programs aim to improve the capabilities of our BF-RhodoLED® lamps to better fulfill the
needs of dermatologists and improve the effectiveness of our commercial team.
Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration
In connection with the Cutanea acquisition, we recorded contingent consideration related to the estimated profits from the sale of
Cutanea products to be shared equally with Maruho. The fair value of such contingent consideration was determined to be $6.5
million on the acquisition date of March 25, 2019 and is re-measured at each reporting date, with changes in fair value presented in
the consolidated statement of operations, until the contingency is resolved.
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities
Common Stock warrants issued in conjunction with private placement financing transactions are accounted for as liabilities in
accordance with ASC 815-40.
The warrant liability is measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented within the
consolidated statements of operations.
Warrant Inducement Expense
The warrant inducement expense represents the accounting fair value of consideration issued to induce conversion of the 2021
Purchase Warrant. On July 26, 2022, the Company entered into the Inducement Letter, in which the Company agreed to lower the
exercise price of the 2021 Purchase Warrant and issue a new warrant (the “Inducement Warrant”) in exchange for $4.6 million in
proceeds.
Change in Fair Value of Investment, Related Party
Our investment is comprised of equity securities in shares of Biofrontera AG, which are initially recorded at cost, plus transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at fair value, based on quoted market prices, with the gains and losses reported in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations along with gains and losses on securities we sold during the period. For the investments held
in foreign currencies, the change in fair value attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates is also included in gains and losses
in the consolidated statement of operations.
The Company may sell its equity securities in response to changes in interest rates, risk/reward characteristics, liquidity needs or
other factors.
Interest Expense, net
Interest expense, net, primarily consists of amortization of the contract asset related to the start-up cost financing from Maruho
under the Share Purchase and Transfer Agreement dated March 25, 2019 (as amended, the “Share Purchase Agreement”), and
interest expense related to our Loan and Security Agreement with MidCap Business Credit LLC, offset by interest income of 6%
per annum for each day that any reimbursement is past due related to the Amended Settlement Allocation Agreement with
Biofrontera AG, and immaterial amounts of interest income earned on our financing of customer purchases of BF-RhodoLED®

lamps.
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Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net primarily includes (i) gain (loss) on sale of leased assets and (ii) gain (loss) on foreign currency
transactions.
Income Taxes
As a result of the net losses, we have incurred in each fiscal year since inception, we have recorded no provision for federal income
taxes during such periods. Income tax expense incurred relates to state income taxes.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022:
(in thousands)   2023     2022     Change  
                   
Product revenues, net   $ 8,879     $ 4,290     $ 4,589  
Related party revenues     17       32       (15 )
Revenues, net     8,896     $ 4,322       4,574  
                         
Operating expenses:                        
Cost of revenues, related party     4,495       2,127       2,368  
Cost of revenues, other     95       98       (3 )
Selling, general and administrative     8,619       7,765       854  
Selling, general and administrative, related party     74       171       (97 )
Research and development     33       -       33  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     200       (2,200 )     2,400  
Total operating expenses     13,516       7,961       5,555  
Loss from operations     (4,620 )     (3,639 )     (981 )
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     598       3,814       (3,216 )
Warrant inducement expense     -       (2,629 )     2,629  
Change in fair value of investment, related party     (2,212 )     -       (2,212 )
Interest expense, net     (142 )     (89 )     (53 )
Other income (expense), net     35       (22 )     57  
Loss before income taxes     (6,341 )     (2,565 )     (3,776 )
Income tax expenses     1       1       -  
Net loss   $ (6,342 )   $ (2,566 )   $ (3,776 )
Product Revenue, net
Net product revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $4.6 million, or 107.0% as compared to the three
months ended September 30, 2022. This increase was driven by a higher volume of Ameluz revenue in Q3 2023, caused in part by
an expansion of our sales force in 2023, higher adoption of Ameluz by dermatologists, as well as the buy-in impact due to a price
increase. Our price for Ameluz increased by 5% on October 1, 2023, causing some dermatologists to accelerate their purchases of
Ameluz in Q3 2023. We increased our price on April 1, 2022, and thus revenues in Q3 2022 were not impacted by the effects of the
previous increase.
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Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenues, Related Party
Cost of revenues, related party for the three months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $2.4 million, or 111.3% as compared
to the three months ended September 30, 2022. This was driven by the increase in Ameluz product revenue. Cost of revenues,
related party, is directly correlated to the selling price of Ameluz under the Ameluz LSA.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $0.9 million, or 11.0% as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by $0.8 million of personnel costs, due
to higher sales and medical headcount. This increase reflects a realignment of our workforce strategy to reduce selling, general and
administrative costs and deploy some of these costs to revenue generating functions. The increase was further driven by $0.4
million of legal expenses and $0.1 million of increase sales and marketing expense. These expenses were offset by a decrease of
$0.3 million in non-recurring issuance costs, related to our liability classified warrants incurred in Q3 2022.
Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration
The change in fair value of contingent consideration was an increase of $0.2 million for the three months ended September 30,
2023 compared to a decrease of $2.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The change in fair value of
contingent consideration is driven by the estimated profit share the Company is required to pay under the Share Purchase
Agreement. The estimated profit share was reduced in Q3 2022 after receiving notification of third-party manufacturing delays that
impacted the timing of sales expansion and improved market positioning of the Xepi®product.
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities
The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was $0.6 million for three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $3.8
million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was driven primarily by
changes in the underlying value of the Common Stock.
Warrant Inducement Expense
The warrant inducement expense was $2.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The change was driven by
changes in the underlying value of the Common Stock, related to the modification and exercise of the 2021 Purchase Warrant in Q3
2022.
Change in fair value of investment, related party
The change in fair value of investment, related party was a decrease of $2.2 million, driven by changes in the quoted market price
of the common stock of Biofrontera AG and losses on such securities we sold during the period.
Comparison of the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022:
(in thousands)   2023     2022     Change  
                   
Product revenues, net   $ 23,423     $ 18,467     $ 4,956  
Related party revenues     52       63       11  
Revenues, net     23,475     $ 18,530       4,945  
                         
Operating expenses:                        
Cost of revenues, related party     11,814       9,504       2,310  
Cost of revenues, other     262       425       (163 )
Selling, general and administrative     29,874       25,050       4,824  
Selling, general and administrative, related party     193       612       (419 )
Research and Development     44       -       44  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     100       (4,100 )     4,200  
Total operating expenses     42,287       31,491       10,796  
Loss from operations     (18,812 )     (12,961 )     (5,851 )
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     2,001       17,896       (15,895 )
Warrant inducement expense     -       (2,629 )     2,629  
Change in fair value of investment, related party     (6,635 )     -       (6,635 )
Interest expense, net     (256 )     (160 )     (96 )
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Other income, net     65       30       35  
Income (loss) before income taxes     (23,637 )     2,176       (25,813 )
Income tax expenses     20       31       (11 )
Net Income (loss)   $ (23,657 )   $ 2,145     $ (25,802 )
Product Revenue, net
Net product revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $4.9 million, or 26.8% as compared to the nine
months ended September 30, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by a higher volume of Ameluz sales in Q3 2023 due to the
expansion of the sales team and higher adoption of Ameluz by dermatologists of $4.8 million and the impact of a higher average
Ameluz selling price in 2023 of $0.1 million.
Cost of Revenues, Related Party
Cost of revenues, related party for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $2.3 million, or 24.3% as compared to
the nine months ended September 30, 2022. This was driven by the increase in Ameluz product revenue. Cost of revenues, related
party, is directly correlated to the selling price of Ameluz under the Ameluz LSA.
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Operating Expenses
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 increased by $4.8 million, or 19.3% as
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by personnel-related expenses of $2.9
million, reflecting a realignment of our workforce strategy to reduce selling, general and administrative costs and deploy some of
these costs to revenue generating functions. The increase is further driven by sales related travel and medical education expenses of
$0.7 million, external legal expenses related to a legal settlement of $1.2 million and other non-recurring legal costs of $1.2 million;
partially offset by issuance costs related to liability classified warrants of $1.0 million incurred in 2022 and a decrease of $0.6
million in business insurance.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, Related Party
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 decreased by $0.4 million, or 68.5% as
compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Related party expenses are based on statements of work issued under the
Services Agreement with the Biofrontera Group. We currently have statements of work in place regarding IT, regulatory affairs,
medical affairs, pharmacovigilance, and investor relations services. The decrease is driven by the Company utilizing fewer IT
services from the Biofrontera Group in the current year when compared to the prior year.
Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration
The change in fair value of contingent consideration was an increase of $0.1 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2023, compared to a decrease of $4.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The change in fair value of contingent
consideration is driven by the estimated profit share the Company is required to pay under the Share Purchase Agreement. The
estimated profit share was reduced in Q3 2022 after receiving notification of third-party manufacturing delays that impacted the
timing of sales expansion and improved market positioning of the Xepi®product.
Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities
The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was a decrease of $2.0 million for the nine months ended September 31, 2023 and a
decrease of $17.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was driven
primarily by a decrease in the underlying value of our Common Stock.
Warrant Inducement Expense
The warrant inducement expense was $2.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The change was driven by
changes in the underlying value of the Common Stock, related to the modification and exercise of the 2021 Purchase Warrant in
July 2022.
Change in fair value of investment, related party
The change in fair value of investment, related party was a decrease of $6.6 million, driven by changes in the quoted market price
of the common stock of Biofrontera AG and losses on such securities we sold during the period.
Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
We define adjusted EBITDA as net income or loss before interest income and expense, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization, and other non-operating items from our consolidated statements of operations as well as certain other items
considered outside the normal course of our operations specifically described below. Adjusted EBITDA is not a presentation made
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). Our definition of adjusted EBITDA may vary
from the use of similarly titled measures by others in our industry due to the potential inconsistencies in the method of calculation
and differences due to items subject to interpretation. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income or
loss, operating income/(loss), cash flows from operating activities or any other performance measures derived in accordance with
U.S. GAAP as measures of operating performance or liquidity. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and should
not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP.
Change in fair value of contingent consideration: Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, the profits from the sale of Cutanea
products will be shared equally between Maruho and Biofrontera until 2030. The fair value of the contingent consideration was
determined to be $6.5 million on the acquisition date and is re-measured at each reporting date, with changes in fair value presented
within the consolidated statements of operations. We exclude the impact of the change in fair value of contingent consideration as
this is not currently payable and is a non-cash adjustment.
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities: The Warrants issued in conjunction with our private placement offerings were accounted
for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40. The warrant liabilities are measured at fair value at inception and on a recurring
basis, with changes in fair value presented within the consolidated statements of operations. We exclude the impact of the change in
fair value of warrant liabilities as this is non-cash.
Warrant inducement expense: The warrant inducement expense was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and
was calculated as the difference between the fair value of the 2021 Purchase Warrant prior to, and immediately after, the reduction
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in the exercise price on the date of repricing in addition to the fair value of the Inducement Warrant issued and is presented within
the statement of operations. We exclude the impact of the change in fair value of the warrant modification as this is non-cash.
Change in fair value of investment, related party: The Company accounts for its investment, related party in accordance with ASC
321, Investments — Equity Securities (“ASC 321”). Equity securities, which are comprised of investments in common stock, are
initially recorded at cost, plus transaction costs, and subsequently measured at fair value, based on quoted market prices, with the
gains and losses reported in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. For the investments held in foreign currencies, the
change in fair value attributable to changes in foreign exchange rates is included in gains and losses in the consolidated statements
of operations. We exclude the impact of the change in fair value of investments as this is non-cash.
Legal settlement expenses: To measure operating performance, we exclude legal settlement expenses. We do not expect to incur
these types of legal expenses on a recurring basis and believe the exclusion of such amounts allows management and the users of
the financial statements to better understand our financial results.
Stock Based Compensation: To measure operating performance, we exclude the impact of costs relating to share-based
compensation. Due to the subjective assumptions and a variety of award types, we believe that the exclusion of share-based
compensation expense, which is typically non-cash, allows for more meaningful comparisons of our operating results to peer
companies. Share-based compensation expense can vary significantly based on the timing, size and nature of awards granted.
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Adjusted EBITDA margin is adjusted EBITDA for a particular period expressed as a percentage of revenues for that period.
We use adjusted EBITDA to measure our performance from period to period and to compare our results to those of our
competitors. In addition to adjusted EBITDA being a significant measure of performance for management purposes, we also
believe that this presentation provides useful information to investors regarding financial and business trends related to our results
of operations and that when non-U.S. GAAP financial information is viewed with U.S. GAAP financial information, investors are
provided with a more meaningful understanding of our ongoing operating performance.
The below table presents a reconciliation from net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022:

   
Three months ended

September 30,    
Nine months ended

September 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Net income (loss)   $ (6,342 )   $ (2,566 )   $ (23,657 )   $ 2,145  
Interest expense, net     142       89       256       160  
Income tax expense     1       1       20       31  
Depreciation and amortization     251       130       769       394  
EBITDA     (5,948 )     (2,346 )     (22,612 )     2,730  
Change in fair value of
contingent consideration     200       (2,200 )     100       (4,100 )
Change in fair value of warrant
liabilities     (598 )     (3,814 )     (2,001 )     (17,896 )
Warrant inducement expense     -       2,629       -       2,629  
Change in fair value of
investment, related party     2,212       -       6,635       -  
Legal settlement expenses     -       -       1,225       -  
Stock compensation expense     207       401       817       1,469  
Expensed issuance costs     -       320         -     1,045  
Adjusted EBITDA   $ (3,927 )   $ (5,010 )   $ (15,836 )   $ (14,123 )
Adjusted EBITDA margin     -44.1 %     -115.9 %     -67.5 %     -76.2 %
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA increased from ($5.0) million during the three months ended September 30, 2022 to ($3.9) million for the three
months ended September 30, 2023. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA is primarily driven by higher revenues of $4.6 million, net of
increased cost of revenues of $2.4 million; partially offset by an increase in our selling, general, and administrative costs of $1.2
million.
Adjusted EBITDA decreased from ($14.1) million during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 to ($15.8) million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA is primarily driven by an increase in selling, general and
administrative costs of $4.5 million, due primarily to increased personnel costs related to increased headcount to expand key
customer facing roles and severance agreements relating to the realignment of our workforce strategy. This is partially offset by an
increase in our revenues of $4.9 million, net of increased cost of revenues of $2.1 million. We expect our revenues to continue to
increase throughout the remainder of the year as our commercial team increases productivity after an expansion earlier in the year.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s primary sources of liquidity are its existing cash balances, cash collected from the sales of its products, proceeds
from the sale of our investment, related party, and cash flows from a revolving line of credit. As of September 30, 2023, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $3.4 million and investment, related party of $3.3 million, compared to $17.2 million and $10.5
million as of December 31, 2022, respectively.
Since we commenced operations in 2015, we have generated significant losses. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, we incurred loss from operations of $18.8 million and $13.0 million, respectively. We incurred net cash outflows from
operations of $16.0 million and $7.9 million, for the same periods, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit as of September 30,
2023 of $103.2 million. Additionally, we expect to continue to incur operating losses due to significant discretionary sales and
marketing, medical affairs, and dermatology community outreach efforts as we seek to expand the commercialization of our
licensed products in the United States.
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In connection with our assessment of going concern considerations under applicable accounting standards, the Company’s
management has determined that substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year from

the date the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were issued.Exhibit 31.1
 

The future viabilityCertification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Company is dependent on its ability to continue to execute its growth plan and raise additional
capital or find alternative methods of financing to fund its operations during the first half of 2024, and until cash flow from
operations is sufficient, if ever. We have implemented plans to improve our working capital position, particularly around inventory
levels. We have not placed any orders nor plan to place any orders for 2024 deliveries in 2023. We expect to need a delivery
sometime in Q3 2024, depending on sales between now and then, and will place the appropriate orders in early 2024. Management
believes that the anticipated implementation of such plans, together with the recent net capital raise of $4.1 million will provide the
opportunity for the Company to continue as a going concern. However, no assurance can be given that the Company will be
successful in these efforts.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets
and satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to
the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from
the outcome of the uncertainties described above. There could be a material adverse effect on the Company and its financial
statements if management’s plans are not achieved on a timely basis.
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Our future use of operating cash and capital requirements will depend on many forward-looking factors, including the following:
● the costs of our commercialization activities for Ameluz®;
● the extent to which we acquire or invest in licensed products, businesses and technologies;
● the extent to which we choose to establish collaboration, co-promotion, distribution or other similar agreements for our

licensed products;
● the cost to fulfill our contractual obligations for various operating leases on vehicles and office space;
● the ability to liquidate our investment in equity securities on a timely basis; and
● the requirement to pay back $7.3 million of start-up cost financing to Maruho and make any contingent profit- sharing

payments to Maruho in connection with the Cutanea acquisition.
We will continue to assess our operating costs and expenses and our cash and cash equivalents and, if circumstances warrant, we
will make appropriate adjustments to our operating plan.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash provided by and (used in) operating, investing and financing activities:

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  
(in thousands)   2023     2022  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (16,029 )   $ (7,928 )
Net cash provided by (used) in investing activities     546       (3,070 )
Net cash provided by financing activities     1,697       14,021  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash   $ (13,786 )   $ 3,023  
Operating Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, operating activities used $16.0 million of cash, primarily resulting from our
loss from operations of $23.7 million, adjusted for non-cash expense of stock-based compensation of $0.8 million, non-cash
interest expense of $0.3 million, depreciation and amortization in the aggregate of $0.8 million, net cash used by changes in our
operating assets and liabilities of $0.9 million, the change in fair value of contingent consideration of $0.1 million and the change in
fair value of investment, related party of $6.6 million; partially offset by the change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $2.0
million.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, operating activities used $7.9 million of cash, primarily resulting from our net
income of $1.1 million, decreased by the non-cash change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $15.3 million and the change in fair
value of contingent consideration of $3.4 million and offset by the non-cash expense of stock-based compensation of $1.5 million,
$0.4 million depreciation and amortization, $0.3 million interest expense as well as $7.3 million of working capital changes.
Investing Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities of $0.5 million consisted of the
proceeds from the sales of equity investments, partially offset by the purchase of machinery & computer equipment.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2022 investing activities used $3.1 million, primarily resulting from the distribution
of a short-term loan of $3.1 million, which was repayable at the option of the holder, Quirin PrivatbankAG, in cash or in shares of
Biofrontera AG acquired with the funds from the loan.
Financing Activities
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, net cash from financing activities consisted of a net $1.7 million of proceeds
from our line of credit.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, net cash from financing activities was $14 million driven entirely by proceeds
from the sale of Common Stock and warrants in a private placement, as well as the exercise of warrants.
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Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of the United States, or
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and
assumptions by management that affect the value of assets and liabilities, as well as contingent assets and liabilities, as reported on
the balance sheet date, and revenues and expenses arising during the reporting period. The main areas in which assumptions,
estimates and the exercising of a degree of judgment are appropriate relate to fair value measurements of contingent consideration,
warrant liabilities, and stock compensation. Estimates are based on historical experience and other assumptions that are considered
appropriate in the circumstances. They are continuously reviewed but may vary from the actual values.
Our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our
consolidated financial statements included in our reaudited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021 (“reaudited Consolidated Financial Statements”), filed in a Current Report on From 8-K with the SEC on
October 3, 2023.
Critical Accounting Estimates
A summary of our critical accounting estimates is included in the Company’s revised Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (“revised
MD&A”), filed in a Current Report on From 8-K with the SEC on October 3, 2023 for the year ended December 31, 2022. There
were no material changes to our critical accounting estimates for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
Other than those items reflected in Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies we did not have during the periods presented, and we
do not currently have, any other off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Emerging Growth Company Status
The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2012 permits an “emerging growth company” such as us to take
advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies
until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected to take advantage of such extended transition
period, which means that when an accounting standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or
private companies, we will adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard and
will do so until such time that we either (i) irrevocably elect to “opt out” of such extended transition period or (ii) no longer qualify
as an emerging growth company.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a “smaller reporting company,” we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the
period covered by this Form 10-Q, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of September 30, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2023 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act).
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
For information regarding legal proceedings in which we are involved, (see Note 18 - Commitments and Contingencies under the
subsection titled “Legal Proceedings” in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q).
Item 1A. Risk Factors
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide disclosure pursuant to this item in this Form 10-Q. However, as of
the date of this Quarterly Report, other than as set forth below, there have been no material changes with respect to those risk
factors previously disclosed under “Risk Factors” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 13, 2023 (the “Form 10-K”). The following should be
carefully considered, together with other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Form 10-K, and our other filings
with the SEC before making investment decisions regarding our Common Stock.
The results of our research and development efforts are uncertain and there can be no assurance they will enhance the
commercial success of our products.
We believe that we will need to incur additional research and development expenditures to improve the capabilities of our BF-
RhodoLED® lamps to better fulfill the needs of dermatologists and may also incur research and development expenditures to
develop new products. The products we are developing and may develop in the future may not be technologically successful. At
this time, we have limited internal research and development personnel, which makes us dependent on consulting relationships.
In addition, the length of our product development cycle may be greater than we originally expected, and we may experience delays
in product development. If our resulting products are not technologically successful, they may not achieve market acceptance or
compete effectively with our competitors’ products and services.
There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a “going concern.”
In connection with our assessment of going concern considerations under applicable accounting standards, the Company’s
management has determined that our growth plans, upcoming inventory purchases and a final settlement payment to DUSA
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. substantial doubt exists about our ability to continue as a going concern through approximately one year from
the date the unaudited condensed financial statements included in Item 1. “Financial Statements” were issued. The future viability
of the Company is dependent on its ability to continue to execute its growth plan and raise additional capital or find alternative
methods of financing to fund its operations. There can be no guarantee that the actions presently being taken by the Company will
be successful in raising additional capital or finding alternative methods of financing. If the Company is not successful in these
endeavors, it would likely have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.
For additional discussion of the risks and uncertainties that affect our business, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors” included in our Form
10-K.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None
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Item 6. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC.
Exhibit No.

4.1 Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on November 2, 2023)

4.2 Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 2023)

10.1 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 30, 2023, by and between Biofrontera Inc. and an institutional
investor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on November 2, 2023)

10.2 Placement Agency Agreement, dated October 30, 2023, by and between Biofrontera Inc. and Roth Capital Partner,
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 2,
2023)

10.3 Amendment to Common Stock Purchase Warrants, dated October 30, 2023, by and between Biofrontera Inc. and
institutional investor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 2, 2023)

10.4 Amendment No. 1 to Settlement Agreement dated as of October 12, 2023, between Biofrontera Inc., Hermann
Luebbert, John J. Borer, Loretta M. Wedge, Beth J. Hoffman, Kevin D. Weber and Biofrontera AG (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 13,
2023)

31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in Exhibit 101)
* Filed herewith.
# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
BIOFRONTERA INC.

Date: November 9, 2023 By: /s/ Hermann Luebbert
Name: Hermann Luebbert
Title: Chief Executive Officer & Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: November 9, 2023 By: /s/ E. Fred Leffler III

Name: E. Fred Leffler, III
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification 2002
 
I, Hermann Luebbert, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Biofrontera Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
 
c) d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) to the registrant’s auditors and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have: audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):
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a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 9, 2023 May 15, 2024 By: /s/ Hermann Luebbert
    Hermann Luebbert
    Chief Executive Officer & Chairman
    (Principal Executive Officer)
 
 

 
Exhibit 31.2

 
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 
I, Eugene Frederick Leffler, III, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Biofrontera Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
 
c) d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
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internal control over financial reporting, (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) to the registrant’s auditors and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have: audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or person performing the equivalent functions):
 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 9, 2023 May 15, 2024 By: /s/ E. Fred Leffler III
    E. Fred Leffler, III
    Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial Officer)
 
 

 
Exhibit 32.1

 
Certification*Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Biofrontera Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Quarterly Report”), pursuant
to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Securities
Exchange Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code (18 U.S.C.§ 1350), 2002, I, Hermann Luebbert, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, do hereby certify, to the best
of my knowledge:
 

1. The Quarterly Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and
 

2. The information contained in the Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Quarterly Report.

 
Date: November 9, 2023 May 15, 2024 By: /s/ Hermann Luebbert
    Hermann Luebbert
    Chief Executive Officer & Chairman
    (Principal Executive Officer)

 
* This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Biofrontera Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Quarterly
Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

 
 

 
Exhibit 32.2

 
Certification*Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
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In connection with the Quarterly Report of Biofrontera Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2023 March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Quarterly Report”), pursuant
to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Securities
Exchange Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United
States Code (18 U.S.C.§ 1350), 2002, I, Eugene Frederick Leffler, III, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, do hereby certify, to
the best of my knowledge:
 

1. The Quarterly Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and
 

2. The information contained in the Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company for the period covered by the Quarterly Report.

 
Date: November 9, 2023 May 15, 2024 By: /s/ E. Fred Leffler III
    E. Fred Leffler, III
    Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial Officer)

 
* This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Biofrontera Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Quarterly
Report), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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DISCLAIMER
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THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
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REPORT INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO
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